
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Chief Executive 
Robert Barlow 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314226 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: MG/KR/Planning 28.07.20 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
Monday, 20 July 2020 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 28 July 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England & Wales) 

Regulations 2020. 
 

This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and streamed live via the following link:   
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w 

 
ROBERT BARLOW 
Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Frank Pickett  
Councillors:  Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Brian Rush, 
Chelcei Sharman, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and Stephen Woodliffe 
One vacant seat at time of issuing agenda. 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 

When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to view the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

This meeting is being recorded. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w


 

 

 
 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 
 

 

B   MINUTES 
 
To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 

1 - 10 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 23 July 2020. 

 

 

 
 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0520 
 
Hybrid planning application seeking: 
Full planning permission for the part change of use of the golf course for the 
siting of caravans with associated works including landscaping, 
handstandings and access routes; provision of a sales area including siting of 
‘show units’ and associated parking; and, 
Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the development of a 
‘hub building’ of up to 12,000 sqm total floorspace – to contain an ancillary 
reception/activity centre/spa (Class D2)/retail unit (up to 100sqm)/ food and 
beverage (Classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities management and ancillary 
works; and provision of a sales building and associated works. 
 
Boston West Golf Centre 
Langrick Road 
Hubberts Bridge 
Boston. 
 
Applicant:  Boston West Golf Limited 
 
 
 

11 - 54 



 

 

 

 
2  PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0473 

 
Erection of a one and a half storey building comprising ground floor retail unit 
(use class A1) and a first floor 1-bed apartment, together with revised access 
and parking arrangements. 
 
2 Eastwood Road 
Fishtoft 
Boston  
PE21 0PH 
 
Applicant:  Mr Erhan Akyuz 

 

55 - 70 

3   ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS 
 
Public submissions in respect of planning committee agenda items 28 July 
2020. 

 

71 - 112 

 
 
 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
Notes:  
 

The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 

In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
 

Joining instructions will be forwarded direct prior to the meeting. 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail: 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk. 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be 
attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

11 FEBRUARY 2020 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Frank Pickett 

Councillors: Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, Paul Goodale, 
Jonathan Noble, Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, 
Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 

Officers: Legal Officer Planning, Growth Manager, Senior Planning 
Officer and Democratic Services Officer 
 
 

66   APOLOGIES 
 

No apologies for absence were tabled 

 
67   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the committee members the Chairman signed the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on the 14 January 2020 

 
68   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interest are tabled within these minutes for: 
 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin and Paul Skinner in their respective roles as 
Lincolnshire County Councillors. 
 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin and Peter Bedford in their respective roles as 
members of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee and 
Councillor Jonathan Noble in his role as a substitute member of the committee. 
 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford and Frank Pickett in their respective roles as 
members of the Internal Drainage Boards. 
 
No further declarations of interest were tabled. 

 
69   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No pubic questions were tabled. 
 
At this point in the proceedings, the Chairman welcomed Councillor Michael Cooper 
back onto the committee. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 
 

 
70   PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0375 

 
Erection of 4 dwellings and associated access. 
 
Land at Park Lane  Freiston  Boston Borough Council 
 
Greenfinch Homes 
 
The Senior planning officer presented the report to committee and confirmed there had 
been no additional information received in respect of the application following publication 
on the agenda.  The senior planning officer provided a brief overview of the history of 
site and members advised that in November 2016 an outline consent for 5 dwellings on 
the site, had been allowed on appeal, establishing the principle of housing on the site, 
and then in February 2019 the erection of two bungalows had been approved on the 
site.  The committee were also advised that the separation distance between the gable-
end of the property that would face the existing bungalow would be approximately 22 
metres and the overall ridge height would be 7.8m.    
 
Lincolnshire County Council had raised no concern and the car parking provision was 
compliant with the local plan with two spaces per dwelling.   
 
Concerns noted in respect of refuse disposal had been had been addressed under 
condition 6 of the report and objections submitted in respect of the loss of trees / 
damage to trees during development had been addressed under condition 5 of the 
report. 
 
Representation was received in objection to the application by Ms. Sam Williams which 
included: 
 
Confirming that her property was the existing bungalow, on the site that was closest to 
the proposed development, Ms. Williams questioned the ridge height of the proposed 
dwellings as being similar to that of her own property.  She advised she had measured 
her own property to the flat roof and it measured 2.7 metres and to the ridge height 
which was 5.8m, 2 metres shorter than the proposed houses:  Ms. Williams further 
questioned the distance between the nearest property and her own a being 22m.  
Further concern noted the changing number of proposed doors and windows to the 
proposed dwellings, which appeared to have increased from the original application.  
Committee were further asked to recognise that the surrounding properties were 
bungalows and that semi-detached houses would be out of character.  Referencing the 
changes in the number of dwellings, from the first application, members were asked to 
agree the site would be over-development, which would impact on existing residents 
and on the leisure facilities, which were established beside it.  Ms. Williams further 
questioned the need for the 4 houses, stating that there was already 12 empty 
properties for sale within the village, along with significant development in the 
neighbouring village of Butterwick with around 100 new homes, having already been 
built. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 

 

Representation was receive by the Chairman of Freiston Parish Council, Councillor 
Marshall which included: 
 
Stating that the Parish Council wanted to protect the well-used playing field, Councillor 
Marshall voiced concern at the increase in development from the original 5 dwellings to 
the possible 9 should the application be granted and also at the lack of any funding the 
development would contribute to the village amenities including the Danny Flear Centre 
and the car park. He further stated he felt it to be over development of the site.  
Additional concerns noted, included the loss of daylight at Ms. Williams property; the 
impact of potential noise from the playground on the residents of the new houses and 
any issues that may follow.  At this point in the proceedings, Councillor Marshall asked 
that in the event that the application should be granted, that an additional condition be 
included to require the provision of an acoustic fence between the playing field and the 
houses. 
Referencing the entrance to the site, Councillor Marshall advised members that the 
entrance to the playing field was located directly aside it.  He further drew members’ 
attention to the lack of any footpath and to the fact that there was a speed hump located 
opposite the site entrance:  both issues he felt could prove dangerous to pedestrians 
crossing the road.  Park Lane was already a very busy road and was regularly used as a 
cut-through to Butterwick and when diversions were in place,  
 
Offering points of clarity in respect of the representation received the Senior Planning 
Officer advised  
 

 that the ridge height noted was for the development agreed under the previous 
application.   

 that concern of overdevelopment needed to be considered in context.  All four 
dwellings had suitable gardens and parking facilities and all had suitable 
separation distances. The site was capable of accommodating four additional 
dwellings. 

 that the combined number of homes built and potential new homes would not 
trigger any requirement for funding for affordable contributions or for service 
contributions.   

 that the issue of noise nuisance would probably be during the day time including 
residents from the new homes, and as such it would be difficult to justify any 
condition requiring installation of an acoustic fence. 

 that the lack of any footpath was an existing problem; Lincolnshire County 
Highways had raised no objection to the application and as speed humps were 
used to slow traffic down then it was doubtful they could be removed in any way. 

 
Committee deliberation: 
 
General committee debate varied in respect of the application with a number of 
members feeling conflicted in making their decisions.   
 
A number of members voiced support and empathy for the objectors and echoed issues 
they had raised, including concern at the overdevelopment of the site and the loss of 
daylight to existing dwellings.  A member questioned how an 80% increase in homes on 
the site was acceptable with 5 existing homes added with a further 4 resulting in 9 on 
the actual site.  The member further advised that the builder, who had constructed the 
first 5 properties on the site, had stated that the dispersal of the sewerage could not be 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 
 

linked to the private sewerage system already on the site.  Members agreed the need 
for the acoustic fence to protect residents on the site, stating that the playing field was 
used on a regular basis, both in the day and in the evening with a large numbers of 
children enjoying the amenities, together with the adults using the gym equipment.     
 
Speaking in support of the application, members noted its compliance in respect of 
Policies 2 and 3 of the local plan.  Furthermore, the Inspector had already agreed the 
site was suitable; it was allocated within the SELLP and the site was also within the 
settlement boundary of the village.  Access to the site appeared adequate and the 
Growth Manager confirmed that the width was 25m on entry before spreading out into 
the site.   The footprint of the proposed houses was small and the actual loss of light 
would be over a short period only.  A comparative appeal decision in a similar location 
was referenced along with a previous decision on an urban site with similar dwellings.   
 
As a point of clarification in response to some confusion by members in respect of 
condition 7 which noted water use of 110 litres per person per day, and how it could be 
monitored, the Growth Manager advised that it was a requirement of planning to include 
such a condition which actually crossed over between planning regulations and building 
regulations.   The condition was a minimum requirement and acted as a trigger to 
ensure that the developer would install low water use goods.  The new policy directed 
that all new residential property met the requirement.  
 
Following concerns in respect of the private road running through the estate and issues 
around who would maintain it and how they would be enforced, the Legal Officer 
provided a point of clarification.   
Members were advised that the informative was strict and that a private road was totally 
acceptable.  The only issues was the removal of household waste from the bins, which 
was addressed under Condition 6. 
 
Noting concern at the lack of any confirmed management of the green areas within the 
site a member asked that an additional condition should be agreed, requiring a 
management plan for the green areas. It would ensure that the Parish Council were not 
left with the responsibility of it.  It was agreed that an additional informative be 
incorporated into the final decision notice relating to maintenance of the green areas 
within the site. 
 
In summary, the Chairman echoed a number of comments by members and 
acknowledged the concerns of the objectors.   Members were referred to an appeal 
decision within the subsequent agenda report, which had been allowed and which had 
been of similar design and plot size to the one under consideration.  The Chairman 
urged caution on replicating such reasons for refusal on such a similar application:  he 
further stressed the importance of having planning policy reasons for any refusal against 
officer recommendation to allow officers the opportunity to defend the decision.  The 
Chairman further stated he was pleased to see the protection agreed for the trees and 
the tree roots. 
 
Motion 1: 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Michael Cooper 
that committee resolve to grant the planning application, in line with officer 
recommendation, subject to the conditions, reasons and informatives therein and 
subject to: 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 

 

 
 an additional condition no. 11 to require the provision of a 2-metre acoustic fence 

running along the hard standing between the site and the playing fields, reducing 
to 1.5 metres after the hard standing. 
 

 an additional informative to advise the developer of the need to maintain the 
green areas of the site. 
 
 

Motion 2: 
It was moved by Councillor Peter Bedford and seconded by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
that the application be refused. 
 
As the second motion was a standard negation, the first motion was taken to the vote 
first: 
 
That committee resolve to grant the planning application, in line with officer 
recommendation, subject to the conditions, reasons and informatives therein and 
subject to: 
 

 an additional condition no. 11 to require the provision of a 2-metre acoustic fence 
running along the hard standing between the site and the playing fields, reducing 
to 1.5 metres after the hard standing. 
 

 an additional informative to advise the developer of the need to maintain the 
green areas of the site. 

 
VOTE:          9 in favour.          3 against.         1 abstention. 
 
RESOLVED:  That committee grant the planning application in line with officer 
recommendation, subject to the following conditions and reasons, and subject to 
the following informatives: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 

the application received 10-Sept-2019 and in accordance with the associated 
plan referenced:  
 
 Ref:192272/02 – ‘Location Plan’ 
 Ref:192272/01 – ‘Proposed Plans, Elevations and Section’ 
 Ref:192272/03 – ‘Proposed Site Plan’ 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details and to accord with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 

Page 5



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 
 

 
 
 

3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) by Rick Smith 
Design, and the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 

 
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 1.0m above existing ground level  
 The dwellings to have at least two storeys 
 600mm demountable defences or ‘Flood Angel’ doors to be installed on all 

dwellings 
 Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated to a minimum of 

300mm above predicted flood depths  
 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently remain in place. 

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with the South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 

 
4. If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then 

the LPA shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out until 
a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect 
contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the LPA. 

  
Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with and to accord 
with Policy 30 of the South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall be carried out fully in accordance with 

the Tree Report prepared by John Wilcockson (dated 11/10/2019), and in 
particular Sections 6 (Arboricultural Implications), 7.2 (Phase I – Undertake 
Arboricultural Works), 7.3 (Phase II – Tree Protection/Method Statement for 
Construction during Construction) and 7.4 (Services).  
 

Reason: To ensure that protected trees and their root systems are not unduly 
harmed during construction of the development and to accord with policies 2, 3 
and 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 

6. No development shall take place above damp proof course until final details of 
the bin collection area for the development, which shall be situated close to the 
adopted highway, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of any unit and the bin storage area 
shall be retained for that purpose thereafter.  
 
Reason: No details of this area has been submitted and refuse lorries will not be 
able to access the private drive area and therefore bins need to presented at the 
adopted highway. This condition accords with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 

 

7.  The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional 
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019). 
 

The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body that this 
duty applies. 
 

A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been met 
shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no 
later than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling. 
 

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236). 

 
8.        Prior to the occupation of any of any dwelling hereby approved by this consent 

the vehicle parking area associated with that dwelling, and the communal turning 
area, shall be made available for use and retained in that form thereafter. 
 

Reason: To ensure that dedicated parking is made available for future occupiers 
of the dwelling within the site and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 36 of the south 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
9.        Prior to the occupation of the last dwelling hereby approved by this consent the 

access shall be constructed of bound material (tarmac/block paving) for a 
distance of 5m from the highway boundary and the parking area identified. 

 
Reason: To ensure no loose material is dragged on to the highway in the 
interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 

 

10. The landscaping and fencing scheme as shown on the proposed site plan 
(ref:192272-03) shall be fully implemented before the occupation of any dwelling 
hereby approved. 
 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure an attractive 
residential environment is created. This condition accords with Policies 2 and 3 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
 

11. Non withstanding the details shown on the approved plans, no development 
above slab level shall be constructed until details of the western boundary for the 
site (between the development and the park) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The details shall include: 
 

 A detailed specification and plans for the acoustic fence – of 2 metres high 
from the new (southern) site boundary to the northern edge of the 
parking/turning area, reducing to 1.5 metres in height for the remainder of 
its length to the frontage on Park Lane. 

Page 7



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 
 

 A detailed planting schedule for a Hawthorne hedge to be planted along 
the full length of this boundary on the western side of the fence. 

 
          The fence and hedge shall then be erected/planted before the   
          occupation of any of the dwellings approved by this consent and shall  
          be retained in that form thereafter. 
 
          Reason:  In the interests of the residential amenities of future  
          occupiers of the approved dwellings and in the interests of protecting  
          users of the adjacent recreation ground, in accordance with Policies 2  
          and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011 - 2036 

  
 
 
Informatives 
 

1. The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended 
vehicular access. These works will require approval from the Highway 
Authority in accordance with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works 
should be constructed in accordance with the Authority's specification that is 
current at the time of construction. For approval and specification details, 
please contact vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 
2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting 

Team on 01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections 
and any other works which will be required within the public highway in 
association with the development permitted under this Consent. This will 
enable Lincolnshire County Council to assist in the coordination and timings of 
these works. 

 
3. The road serving the permitted development is approved as a private road 

which will not be adopted as a Highway Maintainable at the Public Expense 
(under the Highways Act 1980). As such, the liability for the future 
maintenance of the road will rest with those who gain access to their property 
from it. 

 
4. The road serving the permitted development is approved as a private road 

which will not be adopted as a Highway Maintainable at the Pubic Expense 
(under the Highways Act 1980).  As such, the liability for the future 
maintenance of the road will rest with those who gain access t their property 
from it. 

 
71   RECEIPT OF APPEAL DECISIONS 

 
 

Blue Bungalow  Pode Lane   Old Leake  Boston  PE22 9NB 
 

The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee confirming that the 
Inspector, who had taken into consideration the changes in policy since the refusal, had 
allowed the appeal.    
 

Page 8



Planning Committee 
11 February 2020 

 

 
The Growth Manager confirmed that whilst it was disappointing to lose the appeal, the 
dismissal appeal from July 2019 had clearly indicated that there was potential revised 
scheme to come forward.  
 
The Inspector had recognised the nature of the application in that it was outline only with 
all matters reserved, which would allow final determination of matters including layout 
and scale by committee.  The Inspector had noted that the edge of settlement nature of 
the site was changing in its density and its form, and the indicative plan was comparable 
to that at the east of the site.  In conclusion, the Inspector had decided the scheme to be 
an improvement on the previous submission for 6 units and that subject to conditions the 
proposal would comply with policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP.  On a positive note the 
Inspector had recognised Boston now had a five year land supply 
 
The Old Smithy  Highgate  Leverton  Boston  PE22 0AJ: 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee confirming that the 
Inspector who had agreed that the building did not appear to have been used solely for 
agricultural purposes had dismissed the appeal and with no evidence, to the contrary it 
did not comply with Class Q.  Referencing the concerns noted by committee in respect 
of the extent of the curtilage, the Inspector had stated that had the scheme met all other 
requirements the issue could have been defined within the final decision:  as it had not, 
then no further consideration was given and the conclusion was the scheme was not 
permitted development.   
 
Noting his role as the Ward Member for Old Leake the Chairman recognised the 
decision of the officers in making the decision table the second application on Blue 
Bungalow  
 
Committee noted the report.  
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 11.40 am 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0520

Hybrid planning application seeking:
Full planning permission for the part change of use of the golf

course for the siting of caravans with associated works including
landscaping, handstandings and access routes; provision of a sales

area including siting of 'show units' and associated parking; and
Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the

development of a 'hub' building of up to 12,000sqm total floorspace
- to contain an ancillary reception/activity centre/spa (Class

D2)/retail unit (up to 100sqm)/ food and beverage (Classes A1, A4
and A5) and facilities management and ancillary works; and

provision of a sales building and associated works

Boston West Golf Centre,
Langrick Road

Hubberts Bridge
Boston.

Applicant:
Boston West Golf Limited

Page 11

Agenda Item 1



P
age 12



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 28th July 2020

Reference No: B/19/0520

Expiry Date: 15-Apr-2020

Extension of Time: 10-Aug-2020

Application Type: Major – Hybrid - Full & Outline Planning Permission

Proposal: Hybrid planning application seeking:
Full planning permission for the part change of use of the golf course
for the siting of caravans with associated works including landscaping,
handstandings and access routes; provision of a sales area including
siting of "show units" and associated parking; and

Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the development
of a "hub" building of up to 12,000sqm total floorspace - to contain an
ancillary reception/activity centre/spa (Class D2)/retail unit (up to
100sqm)/ food and beverage (Classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities
management and ancillary works; and provision of a sales building and
associated works

Site: Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, Hubberts Bridge, Boston,
Lincolnshire, PE20 3SG

Applicant: Boston West Golf Limited

Agent: Ben Gibson

Ward: Swineshead and Holland
Fen

Parish: Brothertoft Parish Council

Case Officer: Mike Gildersleeves Third Party Reps: 76 received

Link to application: B/19/0520

Recommendation: Grant conditional permission, subject to conclusion of a Legal
Agreement

Page 13

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 This application has been presented to the Planning Committee at the suggestion
of the Growth Manager, due the level of public interest, in combination with the
scale and nature of the development and the issues raised. The proposal also
includes a S106 legal agreement for contributions towards mitigation against the
traffic impact of the development and to encourage sustainable transport.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site is located approximately 2 miles to the west of Boston to the
north of the village of Hubbert’s Bridge. The site lies to the north of the A1121 with
Langrick Road to the east and is occupied by Boston West Golf Course. The site
is irregular in shape and occupies approximately 56ha and comprises of a golf
course, driving range, a clubhouse (including a restaurant, bar, hotel). The access
for the proposed development would be taken from the east from Langrick Road.

2.2 To the north and north east of the site is agricultural land with Kirton Drove and
Langrick Road bordering the site to the northeast and east. On the opposite side
of Langrick Road to the southeast is a cluster of residential properties. To the
southern boundary is the A1121 and railway line with the village further to the
southeast beyond the Hubbert’s Bridge Crossroad. To the southwest of the site is
a group of listed buildings, Hubbert’s Bridge Farmhouse, Barn to Hubbert’s Bridge
Farm and the Kitchen Garden Wall to Hubbert’s Bridge Farmhouse, all designated
as Grade II. To the west of the site is a nursery.

2.3 There are a number of trees and groups of trees within the site and along the
boundaries of the site, particularly to the southern boundary.

2.4 The application is a hybrid application which seeks a combination of full and outline
planning permission as part of an overall project. This project seeks to turn the site
into a holiday resort, comprised of accommodation and facilities. This hybrid
approach has been used as an application process by this Council in the past.

2.5 Full planning permission for the partial change of use of the golf course to allow
the siting of caravans, associated access, parking and internal road network,
landscaping and sustainable drainage. The proposed caravan pitches are to be
sited to the western part of the golf course and are to be accessed via the existing
access off from Langrick Road. The layout proposes some 300 caravan pitches
with car parking and a caravan sales area that will comprise a sales/reception
office. To facilitate the development and extended internal vehicular route there will
be a reconfiguration of two of the existing nine holes in the golf course which are
to be retained. The caravans to be sited would be of a lodge design/style, and to
this end are also referred to as ‘lodges’ within the application documents – for the
purposes of this report therefore any references to lodges are references to the
caravans proposed. It is important to note that the caravans are intended to be
used for holiday purposes – albeit some units may be sold, whilst others would be
owned and operated by the site owners.

2.6 Outline planning permission is also sought for a ‘Hub’ building, with all matters
reserved. The application seeks to establish the maximum parameters for this
which is shown as being 80m by 80m x 11 m and would have a maximum
floorspace of 12,000sqm. The use of the Hub is to include; a reception, food and
beverage areas, swimming pool, spa, climbing wall, convenience/gift shop and

Page 14



activity kiosk. The Hub building is to be sited to the south of the existing clubhouse.
Further details of the Hub building and its proposed facilities would be provided
within a subsequent reserved matters application.

2.7 The application is supported by the plans and the following technical documents;

§ Planning, Economic and Design & Access Statement
§ Economics Benefits Report
§ Heritage Desk Based Assessment
§ Ecology and Protected Species Survey
§ Flood Risk Assessment
§ Transport Statement
§ Tree Survey
§ Landscape Visual Appraisal

2.8 Additional information and amended plans have been submitted during the
application to address various consultation comments and comments of the
Planning Officer. The applicants have submitted an addendum to the FRA, a full
Tree Survey and Report, Ecological Assessment and a Viability and Needs
assessment pertaining to the Golf facility (including an email from Golf England).
Revised plans have been submitted which relates to the illustrative site layout,
illustrative south eastern enlargement plan and illustrative Hub designs. The
illustrative site layout has been amended to denote two Hub buildings, positioned
further in-site, more closely related to existing buildings, with increased planting. A
collection of images have also been put together to show design which the
proposed Hub building(s) would take inspiration from.

2.9 More recently, a further amendment to the drainage proposals has been presented,
with the proposal being that the development would now be connected to foul
drainage as opposed to relying on packaged treatment plants. This is in response
to the comments of the Environment Agency (see later).

2.10 The applicants have also provided a phasing plan which shows that the
development subject to the full permission would be delivered in a series of 4
phases:

1. New access road within the site
2. Up to 70 units and associated infrastructure
3. Up to 99 units and associated infrastructure
4. Final 131 units and associated infrastructure

2.11 These have been informed by the various technical studies, along with
consideration of scheme viability and delivery, in order to enable some units to be
delivered on site within year 1.

2.12 It should also be noted that the proposals have been screened in accordance with
the EIA Regulations 2017, and an opinion has been adopted which concludes that
the development is not EIA development and thus an Environmental Statement is
not required in connection with the proposals.

2.13 Members should also be aware that a revised certificate (Certificate B) has been
received by the Council on the 10th July 2020, with an amended notice having been
served on the landowner. This corrects the earlier submitted certificate A which
was completed in error – albeit they advise the landowner is fully aware of the

Page 15



proposal. This correction is sufficient to make the application valid (against the
national requirements) and clarifies the ownership of the site – aligning it with the
Councils legal enquires as part of the development of the required legal agreement.
The Council has contacted the landowner as identified by the certificate, and is
required to allow them 21days from this notice (expiring 31st July) to make any
comments. The landowner has provided a response to the Council on 15th July,
this identifies that the site was purchased by the landowner in 2016, with
appropriate arrangements relating to the lease and purchase of the facilities by the
current applicants in place. They also identify that they have previously
encountered challenges with making the golf course viable. The landowner has
confirmed that they are fully aware of the proposals and are fully supportive of
them, and that they have no further observations to make. In light of this, Officers
are satisfied that the correct certification and notices have been served, and that
the landowner is fully sighted of the proposals. The Council can therefore move to
determine the proposals.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 B/17/0103 - Proposed two storey extension to existing hotel to create 18 new hotel
rooms and reception area plus extension to existing car park – Permitted
05/07/2017.

3.2 B/09/0325 - Variation of condition 6 of planning permission B/09/0031 – Refused
02.11.2009. Appeal dismissed.

3.3 B/09/0031 - Erection of 19 Holiday/Golf Lodges – Permitted 01/05/2009.

3.4 B/08/0536 - Erection of 19 holiday/golf lodges – Withdrawn 26.11.2008.

3.5 B/03/0865 - Hotel with associated parking – Permitted 15/03/2004.

It is clear from the above that permissions have been previously granted for
accommodation at the site as part of the activities associated with the operation of
the golf course. The golf course has also operated as a multi-purpose facility, with
a range of functions and events also held at the site, alongside the primary use of
the land as a golf course.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan

The following policies are considered to be most relevant to the determination:
§ Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy
§ Policy 2 – Development Management
§ Policy 3 – Design of New Development
§ Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk
§ Policy 5 – Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs
§ Policy 6 – Developer Contributions
§ Policy 9 - Promoting a Stronger Visitor Economy
§ Policy 28 – The Natural Environment
§ Policy 29 - The Historic Environment
§ Policy 30 – Pollution
§ Policy 31 – Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
§ Policy 32 – Community, Health and Well-being

Page 16



§ Policy 33 – Delivering a more Sustainable Transport System
§ Policy 36 – Vehicle and Cycle Parking
§ Appendix 6 – Parking Standards

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

§ Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
§ Section 4 – Decision Making
§ Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
§ Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
§ Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable transport
§ Section 11 – Making effective use of land
§ Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
§ Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change
§ Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
§ Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5.0 Representations

5.1 As a result of the initial publicity 78 letters of representations have been received,
there have been representations of support, objections and neutral comments.

5.2 There has been 3 objections which can be summarised as follows:
§ Destroy golf course
§ No demand for a holiday development
§ Concern over traffic, queues at Hubberts Bridge, number of accidents and the

increase in traffic

5.3 There has been 72 letters of support which can be summarised as follows:
§ Opportunity/Boost for Boston
§ Limited disruption to town or traffic
§ Impact on area will be minimal
§ Businesses and residents will benefit
§ Create jobs
§ Bring more tourism
§ Benefit to wider area
§ Is needed for the town
§ No impact on natural beauty of the area
§ Consideration have been given to wildlife
§ Bring derelict site into positive use

5.4 Following receipt of revisions to the scheme and re-advertisement/re-consultation
a further 4 letters of representation have been received making the following
comments;

There have been 3 further letters of objections which can be summarised as
follows:
§ Concern over foul drainage
§ Boundary treatment, doesn’t show if access restricted and the time taken for it

to grow.
§ Change outlook from property
§ Impact on privacy
§ Noise and disturbance

Page 17



§ Traffic concerns and impact on Hubbert’s Bridge

There has been 1 further letter of support which can be summarised as follows:
§ Enhance the site
§ Provide long term employment, support economy and environment

6.0 Consultations

6.1 Amber Hill Parish Council – Indicated that all Councillors were in favour of this
development as it will bring income and employment to the area and will protect
wildlife.  However, the following concerns were raised;
§ Main concern is traffic due to current tailbacks would be increasing and there

have been numerous accidents at the junction with the A1121 Boardsides
§ Concern over lack of footpaths and crossing of the main road for visitors wishing

to go the Wheatsheaf Pub or the train station.
§ Water Supply and sewage as there is no plan to tap into the mains service
§ Will the number of sites be capped as concern raised that once the initial

application for 300 had been approved as this may be difficult to object to at a
later date.

§ The applicant was under the impression that there was a regular bus service
running into Boston however the bus is only a school bus service

§ Councillors were sceptical with the employment figure quoted of 106 full time
employees.

§ Concerns that the site may be used for Touring caravans in the interim period
until the permanent caravans are in place and Councillors would not give their
approval for touring caravans at any time.

6.2 Frampton Parish Council - The Parish Council have raised grave concerns
regarding the increase in traffic on an already very busy A52 at the Hubberts Bridge
level crossing.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation – no further comment
provided.

6.3 Holland Fen with Brothertoft Parish Council - Support the application, but would
like extra consideration be taken in regards to the following:
1) The main issue with the site is the traffic congestion the last report used was

from a traffic survey which was based in 2017. The traffic has increased
substantially since then and the council would like to see an up to date version
being used.

2) On the Main road next to Holland fen village hall an application was refused
for a house with multiple occupancy as this would cause excess traffic.

3) The noise from an on-site entertainment bar would be substantial for the
resident of the area so perhaps some conditions could be put in place.

4) The boundary for the proposed development would need to be very secure the
council wish to see higher than 5ft fencing being used, especially if animals
(dogs) bring on site.

5) The application encourages the use of local transport but there is only a school
bus which stops nearby and the trains only run to Nottingham not into Boston,
some transport services need to be made available for this application. Better
research needs doing in regards to this.

6) Low level lights on site would be a key point to ensure as the golf course itself
is currently very bright and having more on site lights plus lights in the cabins
would make this site light up substantially.

Page 18



7) The council would like to see restrictions on the site for how long owners and
customers of the cabins can stay as they do NOT want it to be a residential
site.

6.4 Kirton Parish Council – No objections, members felt it could bring some new jobs
to the area that they supported.

6.5 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board – initially provided detailed comments which
highlighted:
§ Consent from the IDB may be required for SuDs discharge to a watercourse.
§ Full details of surface water schemes are required.
§ Applicant will be responsible for discharge to non IDB maintained watercourses
§ Foul disposal requires agreement under the Land Drainage Act 1991, as does

any culverting or filling of watercourses.
§ There is a watercourse on the western boundary which is IDB maintained,

access to this should be retained.
§ Existing levels should not be raised, unless measures are put in place to

manage run-off and waterlogging.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation - The Board reiterates it’s
comments given within its response letter dated 19 March 2020, with the following
additional points:

§ The method of foul water disposal via an existing package treatment unit is
acceptable in principle to the Board provided that the applicant follows the
parameters stated within the letter from Ray Morgan Associates. The applicant
will be expected to comply with the Board’s requirements regarding off-site
works to ensure the viability of flows from the site to the nearest available Board-
maintained watercourse.

§ The Board notes the updated site plan, and reiterates its comments regarding
the availability of suitable access for maintenance along its vested watercourse
on the western boundary, particularly regarding any existing trees and bushes,
and any proposed new planting to be located along that boundary which will
obstruct the Board from carrying out its statutory duties by mechanical means.

6.6 Economic Development Manager – No objection, this development of a holiday
park will contribute to and facilitate further economic success of the borough by
creating viable employment opportunities within a modern holiday or “staycation”
environment, increase the potential of business growth and development with the
supply chain and due to its close proximately to the centre of Boston, adding value
to our retail sector through increased spend.

6.7 Lincolnshire County Council Highways & SUDS – No objection on highway
grounds subject to the imposition of conditions. Request for developer
contributions to mitigate the traffic impact of the development and to encourage
sustainable transport. A S106 contribution of £5000 p.a. for 5 years (total
£25,0000) is requested to support the CallConnect bus service.

6.8 Environment Agency – originally objected to the proposed development as
submitted because it involves the use of a non-mains foul drainage system in
circumstances where it may be reasonable for the development to be connected
to a public sewer but no justification has been provided for the use of a non-mains
system.

Page 19



Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation- as the proposals now
include connection to the mains drainage network, the objection has been removed
subject to conditions and informatives

6.9 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust - No objection, recommends conditions including
management plan, further survey work for Great Crested Newts and lighting.

6.10 Natural England – Originally they advised that the application could have potential
significant effects on The Wash Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and that
further was required in order to determine the significance of these impacts and
the scope for mitigation.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation - Based on the plans
submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not have
significant adverse impacts on The Wash Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
and has no objection.

6.11 Sport England – Originally advised that insufficient information has been submitted
in order to fully assess the impacts of the proposal with regard to the loss of part
of the existing golf course.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation – Supports the proposal
subject to the swimming pool being either restricted in size by condition or that the
determination of the application is delayed until such time as a strategic
assessment is undertaken to assess the impact of the pool proposed.

6.12 Historic Conservation Advisor – Originally objected on the grounds that the
proposals changes will have a negative effect on the setting of the listed buildings
and a number of non-designated heritage assets in the vicinity. The proposed hub
is not sympathetic to open countryside character of the area and will affect the
experience of the users of the area. The proposals will outcompete and dominate
the historic environment, eroding the character of the area, and in particular
positive historic character.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation – Neither objects or
supports the proposals and has provided detailed comments which are
summarised as follows:

The additional information for the wider site has satisfied the concerns regarding
the impact of the proposals on the landscape character of the area.

Concern still lies with the location of the Hub building(s). Increased planting and
screening when viewed from the principal highways, improves the situation as it
gives a clear steer on the nature of the development. However, the proposals
buildings are still of a large scale, with materials and design of them, and the
landscaping, forming part of the reserved matters. The impact of the proposals on
the character of the area and the undesignated heritage assets of the area still has
not been thoroughly tested. There is the ability to shape the proposed design which
could, if approached unsympathetically, adversely affect the character of the area.
The location, scale, design and materials will all need to be strongly conditioned to
ensure that meaningful discussions take place over this element of the scheme.

Page 20



The proposed changes have the potential to impact on a number of non-designated
heritage assets in the vicinity. Detailed conditions and discussions will be required
to ensure that the proposals are innovative and enhance the local area, rather than
risk impacting negatively upon it.

6.13 Heritage Lincolnshire - It is considered that the site offers a potential for
archaeological remains to be present based on the extent and type of remains
recorded in the vicinity and within the site. Insufficient information is available at
present with which to make any reliable observation regarding the impact of this
development upon any archaeological remains.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation – the response to
previously submitted advice is not agreed with. An archaeological scheme of works
will be required and should address each aspect of the hybrid application and be
tailored to the potential impact represented by each elements of the proposal.
Therefore, the overall comments remain as submitted.

6.14 Environmental Health - No objections but advises that the provision of caravans
would require a caravan site licence. They also seek clarification on the number of
electric charging point to be provided and details of other measures to reduce air
quality impacts. They have also advised that details in respect of noise and hours
of operation may be required.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation - No further comments
made.

6.15 Anglian Water Services - The developer is not proposing to connect to Anglian
Water’s Network, this is outside of Anglian Water’s jurisdiction to comment.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation - The foul drainage from
this development is in the catchment of Boston Water Recycling Centre that will
have available capacity for these flows. Development will lead to an unacceptable
risk of flooding downstream, request conditions for on-site drainage strategy. The
proposed method of surface water management does not relate to Anglian Water
operated assets. No objection subject to the imposition of conditions.

6.16 Arboricultural Consultant – Initially raised concerns that the application did not
include sufficient information to allow a comment to be made. Further information
requested.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation - In terms of the impact on
the internal tree groups, it was requested that the applicant make minor changes
(road infrastructure/caravan siting positions) to make better use of available space
resulting in reduced tree loss.

The site layout has been changed and a full revised Arboricultural Impact
Assessment in line with BS5837:2012 has now been submitted. The applicant did
not fully take on board the comments however, a balance has to be struck in terms
of maximising site usage and a reasonable attempt has been taken given the
overall condition of the individual trees. The aim on this site, is to try to retain as
many of the groups as possible - wherein lies the value.

Page 21



The revised site layout is considered an improvement and therefore no further
comments to make at this stage regarding the proposed layout in terms of tree
retentions/losses for the main part of the site.

A Tree protection Plan along with an Arboricultural Method Statement covering the
“Full” application site is now required, which can be secured by condition,
additionally, a full landscape plan along with a minimum 5-year management plan
will also be required.

Hub Area - no meaningful information has been provided, therefore recommends
a condition.

Overall the updated comment is summarised as no objections raised subject to
conditions.

6.17 Ecological Consultant – Initially raised concerns that the application did not include
sufficient information to allow a comment to be made. Further information
requested.

Following revision and re-advertisement/re-consultation – The supplementary
reports are sufficient and support the report recommendations with regards to
habitat retention, habitat creation, the provision of bat boxes and the commitment
to design an appropriate lighting scheme in order to avoid or minimise and adverse
effects on bats. Sufficient evidence has been provided to support the conclusion
that Great Crested Newts and Water Voles are unlikely to be present on site. Any
potential effects on white-clawed crayfish and common dormouse are unlikely.
Unless further evidence comes to light, appropriate protective measures for otter,
common reptiles, hedgehogs, badgers and birds can be included in a detailed
CEMP.  Agree with applicant’s assessment that the scheme is unlikely to have an
adverse effect on the South Forty Foot Drain Local Wildlife Site (LWS).

Suggested imposition of a planning condition, with regards to biodiversity, for the
submission of a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP).

Overall the updated comment is summarised as no objections raised subject to
conditions.

6.18 Health and Safety Executive – no comments received.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:

§ Principle of development
§ Impact on existing sports facilities
§ The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area
§ The proposal’s impact on heritage assets
§ Highway safety and car parking
§ Impact on ecology
§ Impact on trees and landscape
§ Flood risk and drainage
§ Impact on neighbour’s amenity
§ Developer contributions
§ Other matters
§ Planning Conditions

Page 22



Principle of development

7.2 Policy 1 of the SELLP defines the site as being within the designated countryside.
In the Countryside, development will be permitted that is necessary to such a
location and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable
development needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental
benefits. Within the policy justification of Policy 1 it states that recreation and
tourism use can meet the broad sustainable objectives of the Local Plan.

7.3 Policy 9 of the SELLP, in relation to promoting a stronger visitor economy states
that larger scale tourism developments will only be supported outside settlement
boundaries in exceptional circumstances, for instance to proportionally support or
enhance the enjoyment of an established visitor attraction where this cannot
reasonably be achieved from a town or village location.

7.4 The NPPF seeks to achieve sustainable development, in line with Policy 1 of the
SELLP. It further states in paragraph 83, supporting a prosperous rural economy,
that decisions should enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure development
which respect the character of the countryside.

7.5 This application proposes the change of use of part of an existing golf course to
accommodate a caravan and tourism development. The application is in 2 parts, a
full application for the change of use to allow siting of the caravans, and an outline
for a Hub building. Collectively these form a single project. The aim as stated by
the applicant is to create a high quality resort/destination, comprised of lodge-style
caravans which take advantage of the setting and landscape of the site. These
would be occupied for holiday purposes, and users would have access to facilities
on site, as well as accessing nearby facilities, attractions and the town centre.

7.6 The existing site is an established golf course which includes a number of
associated facilities including a hotel, bar/restaurant/conference facilities etc. The
planning history for the site indicates that has been utilised for a combination of
tourism and leisure purposes. The application indicates that the viability of the
operation of the site as a golf-driven enterprise has been on a downward curve for
some time.

7.7 A Viability and Needs Assessment has been submitted with the application which
states that over the past 3 – 5 years Boston West golf course has experienced a
steady decrease in membership base within the club. This decrease has occurred
even with a reduction in fees and other incentives and the lack of demand has left
the current site in financial difficulty. This has led to consideration of other
alternative uses while still retaining part of the golf course. There has been added
investment into the driving range as well as additional ancillary facilities on site.
The assessment states that in order for the site to become financially viable and
retain high quality golf provision, in the form of a nine hole golf course, it is proposed
to change the partial use on site to allow for the development of caravans. It further
states that without these additional revenue streams there is a real concern for the
future viability of golfing provision on site due to this lack of demand and high
running costs. This report also goes on to discuss the prevalence of other similar
facilities within a 30 minute drive of the site and highlights a significant number of
9 and 18 hole facilities, and identifies that in terms of access to alternative facilities
this would not have any adverse effects. The report supports the provision of a nine
hole course as being a more viable, and attractive opportunity given its short

Page 23



format. It is therefore considered that the loss/reduction of the existing facility has
been appropriately justified.

7.8 Officers advise that the site is existing, and therefore finding an alternative use for
this site is preferential to the development of the proposals on an un-developed
site. On the basis of the submission, the emphasis of the development is to provide
a high quality tourism and leisure offer, which in turn is linked to the established
landscape and amenity quality of the site. Therefore looking at alternative sites and
justification is not appropriate in this instance, and in any event would be unlikely
to result in a different conclusion based on the characteristics of the development
proposed and of the site itself. The development would provide an economic
benefit by supporting the existing leisure facility (which would be retained in part)
on the site and would provide a new tourist facility creating new economic benefits
to the area. The economic effects are discussed in more detail later in this report.
The development would also include enhanced landscaping to the site which would
provide environmental benefits, which can be weighed as positives within the
planning balance. As such the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of
Policy 1 of the SELLP.

7.9 Officers also advise that the proposed development is considered to support and
enhance the existing leisure facility in operation on the site, and this is also
reinforced by the supporting documents with the application. Part of the golf course
would remain, along with the driving range and club facilities, whilst the remainder
of the site would be used to create a tourism facility – and it is noted that Sport
England and Golf England recognise there is potential for an improvement to the
existing facilities arising from the proposals. Officers accept that there is a synergy
between these two uses, and this would likely form part of the sense of place and
uniqueness of the tourism/leisure offer – much in the same way as there are
existing tourism facilities linked to activities such as fishing which are already
located within the Borough. The diversification and enhancement of an existing
leisure facility to facilitate a tourist development is considered to be an exceptional
circumstance in accordance with Policy 9 of the SELLP. The proposed use could
not reasonably be provided within a town or village location due to the scale and
the nature of the proposal as a form of holiday accommodation linked to the leisure
offer and characteristics of the site, and as such the proposal is considered to meet
the requirements of Policy 9 of the SELLP.

7.10 Concerns have been expressed regarding the number and type of caravans, along
with the nature of their occupancy. The application is proposing to provide holiday
accommodation only, on an all-year-round basis, and the supporting information
submitted includes a management document (including site rules) which is
comprehensive in nature and seeks to demonstrate that the proposed tourist facility
will be a high quality resort set within a mature woodland setting, and one which
will be controlled through site rules and regulations. Planning conditions can be
imposed to regulate the occupancy of the units to ensure that they are for holiday
purposes only, and also to regulate the overall number and general location of the
caravans in accordance with the submitted documents. Overall, subject to the
imposition of appropriate conditions as set out later in this report, Officers consider
that appropriate controls could be put in place to ensure that the units are occupied
for holiday purposes only. It is also recognised that an informative be added which
highlights the Councils expectation that the site should be managed in line with the
management document presented in order to ensure a high quality offer results
from this permission.

Page 24



7.11 It must also be remembered that there is already existing tourism accommodation
on this site, and it is used for multiple purposes alongside the primary use. Further,
there are also other examples of tourism accommodation within the immediate
vicinity, of a range of styles and qualities. This adds further weight to the
consideration that the principle of the proposed use is an acceptable one in this
location, subject to full consideration of the direct and in-direct impacts of the
proposal as set out later in this report. It is noted that some other forms of tourism
accommodation operate restricted seasons by virtue of planning conditions, this
can result from factors such as flood risk mitigation, to previous planning policies.
In this case, there is no policy reason why the accommodation should not be all-
year-round occupancy per-se, unless of course there is a requirement in relation
to other matters such as flood risk.

7.12 Concern has been expressed by the Parish Council over the number of units on
the site and that there should be a cap on the number of units. Concern has also
been expressed with regards to the site being used by touring caravans. The
proposed development is for a high-quality holiday resort with permanent pitches
as opposed to a touring site. A condition can be imposed to ensure that there are
no more than 300 caravans on the site and that the site cannot be used for touring
caravans or camping. A condition is recommended to be imposed to restrict the
occupancy of the caravans to ensure that they do not become permanent
residential properties. Equally, it must also be remembered that the operation of
the site as a caravan site is covered by the Caravan Licensing regime which is
administered by Environmental Health, thus the Council would retain an additional
layer of regulation.

7.13 Overall, Officers consider that the principle of the proposal would be in accordance
with Policy 1 and 9 of the SELLP and the requirements of the NPPF, subject to the
consideration of all other factors.

Impact on existing sports facilities

7.14 The application proposes the change of use of part of an existing golf course to
provide up to 300 caravan pitches. The caravans are to be sited on the western
part of the golf course with the remainder of the course being retained and the
internal reconfiguration of two of the existing holes to provide a nine-hole golf
course. The driving range will also be retained along with the golf club house and
facilities.

7.15 Policy 32 of the SELLP, Community, Health and Well-Being, states that the
redevelopment or change of use of an existing community facility will be permitted
only if an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown that the facility
is:
1. a. surplus to requirements; or

b. not economically viable; or
c. unfit for purpose; and
d. in the case of recreational open space, does not make an important

contribution in amenity, visual or nature conservation terms; or
2. the loss resulting from the proposed redevelopment or change of use will be

replaced by equivalent or better provision (in terms of quantity and quality) in
a suitable nearby location; or

3. (in the case of sports facilities or recreational open space) the redevelopment
or change of use is for alternative sports or recreational provision, the need for
which clearly outweighs the loss.

Page 25



The NPPF, paragraph 97, states that existing sports and recreational land should
not be built on unless the development is for alternative sports and recreational
provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former
use.

7.16 The applicants have advised that the existing golf course is in economic decline
and that proposal would enable the diversification of Boston West Golf Course
through providing tourism facilities to boost the economic performance of the
existing site and secure its long term vitality. Nine holes of the course will be
retained, as well as the driving range.

7.17 Following submission of a viability and needs assessment, Sport England have
reviewed the application and are supportive of a project that aims to reinvigorate
the facility from a golf perspective. The applicants have also submitted an email
from Golf England who states that ‘the initial plan to reduce the course to 9 holes
produces an opportunity to provide shorter, different formats of the game, in line
with our ‘Ways to Play’ guidelines, that could attract and introduce new people to
the game from in and around the Boston area’. This is reflected in the layout plans
presented which only show caravans to be sited on one half of the course, allowing
for the retention of the existing driving range and a 9 hole course.

7.18 Sport England have expressed some concern over the size of the swimming pool
which is to be within the proposed ‘Hub’ building. The details of the hub building
are reserved for future consideration, however, it is unlikely that the pool within the
hub will be greater than 20 metres in length. A condition is however recommended
to enable full consideration of this, should a pool bigger than 20m be proposed at
the Reserved Matters stage.

7.19 The application proposes the provision of a new leisure facility, in respect of the
caravan pitches, and would retain and enhance a nine-hole golf course. The
enhancement of the facilities and provision of new leisure/tourist facilities is
considered by Officers to outweigh the loss of part of the golf course. The proposal
would be in line with Policy 32 and the provisions of the NPPF.

The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.20 This application seeks permission for the partial change of use of the golf course
for the siting of up to 300 caravans with associated access, parking, road networks
and landscaping and outline planning consent for a ‘Hub’ building to the southeast
of the development site. The various associated works to the site to create SUDs
features, roads, parking areas, and landscape features are internal to the site.

7.21 Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP require that development is assessed in terms of its
size, scale, layout, density and impact on the amenity, trees, character and
appearance of the area and the relationship to existing development and land uses
as well as the high quality of design. Section 12 of the NPPF, Achieving well-
designed places, is also considered relevant in the consideration of the application.

7.22 The application site comprises of a golf course which is bounded by the A1121, to
the south and the B1192 to the east. Beyond these routes and to the north and
west the site surrounded by agricultural fields. The site currently comprises a golf
course, driving range and clubhouse, which includes a restaurant and bar, a hotel,
and associated infrastructure. The wider golf course area is enclosed by vegetation

Page 26



of varying quality and density which mainly comprises native hedgerow and
predominantly deciduous woodland. The golf course is generally flat with localised
undulations associated with golf related activities and is generally well wooded in
between the fairways, greens and tees. None of the existing trees or landscape
features are subject to any formal protection and the site is best characterised as
being a managed landscape.

7.23 A Landscape and Visual Appraisal has been submitted with the application which
concludes that “there would be an inevitable effect on the land use and landscape
character of the site itself as a consequence of the proposed development due to
the loss of part of the golf course and practice greens, however much of the site's
green infrastructure would be retained surrounding the development proposals. As
a result of the landscape mitigation proposal and the careful retention of existing
features, there would be beneficial effects upon vegetation and water features in
the longer term”.

7.24 The proposed siting of the caravans would be to the west of the site with the
remainder of the site being retained as a nine-hole golf course and driving range.
The caravan pitches are to be sited in the main within the existing fairways, and
within existing mature groups of trees, where possible, with enhanced landscaping
proposed within the site and on the outer boundaries. The development would be
visible from publicly accessible locations but due to the scale of the development
and nature of the units proposed Officer's consider these will be localised and
limited. The application also proposes to mitigate the impact of the development
with additional planting and landscaping to the periphery of the site which again
Officers consider would negate some of the impact of the development.

7.25 Additional information has been submitted providing examples of the type and
design of caravan units and each unit will be provided with a parking space. In
terms of scale, the proposed masterplan details the single units would be 3.7m in
width and 12.5m in length, and the larger units would measure 6m in width and
12.5m in length. All caravan units would be single storey, and the applicants advise
that they would all comply with the definition of a caravan as set out in the Caravan
Sites Act 1968. However, it is clear from the information provided that the units
proposed are not typical static caravans, they are of a lodge style, and that their
appearance has been chosen to present a high quality solution, but also to ensure
that they visually blend into the landscape of the site. Thus it is considered by
Officers, in views from public areas, the units themselves would not be prominent,
and would in many ways contribute positively to the character of the site and the
overall sense of place in terms of creating a high-quality tourism offer for this site
and the Borough.

7.26 It is acknowledged that the siting and use of up to 300 caravan pitches would alter
the appearance of the site, however, Officers consider that the nature of the
proposal is one which would assimilate with the rural character of the area and
mitigation is proposed to reduce the visual impact of the proposal. Officers consider
that any change to the area is unlikely to cause significant harm in terms of the
character and appearance of the area, and any harm that would result must be
weighted in the planning balance against the other positive aspects of the scheme.
Appropriate conditions are recommended in order to ensure that any impacts
arising from the development in respect of character are appropriately mitigated.

Page 27



7.27 A sales area and show units are proposed to the southeast of the site, towards the
junction with Langrick Road and the A1121. It is noted that this area is potentially
the most noticeable area for change to take place, particularly in view of the
intended use of this area. The illustrative layout plan shows areas of planting on
this prominent corner and due to the low lying nature and scale of the buildings
proposed this area is unlikely to harm the character and appearance of the area.
In addition, many of the views in this area are transient ones. Whilst this would
result in visual change, Officers consider that this would be unlikely to be harmful
in nature. It is recognised that there may be a desire for advertisements to be
located within this area, these would however be subject to separate consideration
under the Display of Advertisements regime. Furthermore, lighting may be required
in this location and while no lighting scheme has been submitted with the
application it is anticipated the proposed lighting will be low-level, except from
around the hub building, where brighter lights will be required in the interest of
public safety. Any proposed lighting strategy could be secured via means of
conditions.

7.28 The application also seeks outline planning permission for the erection of a ‘Hub’
building to the frontage of the site. The original submission stated that the building
would measure 80m by 80m by 11m and would have a maximum floor space of
12,000sqm. An amended indicative layout plan has been submitted which shows
how the Hub building could be two separate buildings which are sited further into
the site. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved for
future consideration. This application therefore seeks to establish the principle of a
Hub building in this position, of the maximum parameters identified, and containing
the identified uses. There are many ways the final solution could be developed,
and the Council would retain the ability to assess this in detail at the Reserved
Matters stage, this would include matters relating to the design and appearance of
the building(s) and its associated impacts. The Hub building(s) is proposed to be
sited in relatively close proximity to other buildings within the site, including the
clubhouse and driving range as well as the hotel to the north of the development.
The proposed building will be viewed within a cluster of development and not as a
stand-alone structure. Visually it is considered that it will alter this part of the
development site, and would occupy a fairly prominent site, at the junction of the
A1121 and Langrick Road. It is recognised that the existing buildings on site are
noticeable from this area owing to the open nature of the frontages, however the
buildings are not unduly prominent as a result of their scale, form, and position on
site. It should be noted that having a high quality solution on this prominent junction
could potentially have beneficial effects in terms of demonstrating the high quality
nature of the destination proposed and the attractiveness of the place, although
care must be taken to develop the right end solution which strikes an appropriate
balance which is suitable for this sensitive frontage. Subject to suitable design and
appearance it is not considered that the Hub building in the indicated location(s)
would result in significant harm to the character of the area. Appropriate conditions
can be imposed to control and shape any future reserved matters submission. In
addition, the Hub building would have a relationship with the existing developed
form on the A1121 and Langrick Road, which is occupied by existing residential
properties and other buildings such as the Community Centre. The Hub would also
be likely to be visible from the railway bridge and from the core part of Hubberts
Bridge to the south. Again, all of these impacts can be fully considered and taken
into consideration during the detailed design of the Hub building(s) and assessed
at the Reserved Matters stage. In principle therefore, no objection is raised to the
position of a Hub building in this general location.

Page 28



7.29 Based on the above assessment it is considered that the proposed caravan site
and Hub building appears acceptable in principle and the proposal is unlikely to
adversely impact on the general character and appearance of the area. For these
reasons, subject to conditions, the proposal accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the
SELLP and the intention of Section 12 of the NPPF.

The proposal’s impact on heritage assets

7.30 The application site lies detached from Hubbert’s Bridge which lies to the south
and the site is not located within a designated Conservation Area.

7.31 There are no Listed Buildings within the site, however, to the southwest of the site
is a group of Listed Buildings: Hubbert’s Bridge Farmhouse; Barn to Hubbert’s
Bridge Farm; and the Kitchen Garden Wall to Hubbert’s Bridge Farmhouse. All of
these are designated as Grade II. The application has been supported with a
Heritage Statement and amended plans have been submitted to address the initial
concerns of the Conservation Officer.

7.32 Full planning permission is sought for the partial change of use of the existing golf
course for the siting of 300 caravans and outline planning permission is sought for
the development of a Hub building with matters of appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale reserved for future consideration – Members' attention is drawn to the
comments in the preceding section regarding this element of the scheme.

7.33 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the
'Act') requires the Local Planning Authority to pay special regard to the desirability
of preserving listed buildings and their setting. In this context, the objective of
preservation is to cause no harm, and is a matter of paramount concern in the
planning process. This statutory duty sits above the policy objectives identified within
the earlier section of this report. Beyond this, where harm would be caused, there is a
necessity to establish the extent of that harm and consider this within the policy context.
Policy 29 of the SELLP states that proposals that affect the setting of a Listed
Building will be supported where they preserve or better reveal the significance of
the Listed Building. This is reiterated in Section 16, Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment, of the NPPF.

7.34 In practice, this requires a methodical approach to be followed, wherein the relevant
assets which would be affected are identified, along with their significance.
Consideration can then be given to any effects on this significance resulting from
the proposals, which may be further reduced through mitigation. If harm is
identified, it is then required to establish the scale and extent of such harm, before
moving on to matters such as planning balance and weighing the public benefits
arising against any identified harm.

7.35 The site currently comprises a golf course, driving range and clubhouse, which
includes a restaurant and bar, a hotel, and associated infrastructure. The wider golf
course area is enclosed by vegetation of varying quality and density which mainly
comprises native hedgerow and predominantly deciduous woodland. The use of
the site as a golf course has changed the landscape of the area and there have
been number of additions to the site over the years, particularly ancillary buildings
and the development of a hotel. These developments, the golf course and
subsequent additions, are recognised as contributing to an evolved landscape

Page 29



which has altered the character of the area and the setting of the adjoining
designated and non-designated heritage assets.

7.36 The application is supported by a detailed supporting document relating to heritage
and heritage impacts which has been fully considered by Officers, and the Council's
retained Conservation Consultant – who has not objected to the proposals. The
proposals have also been amended to address concerns raised, and to
demonstrate the proposal's acceptability in relation to matters raised. It is
considered that sufficient information has been presented to allow an informed view
on the heritage impacts of this proposal to be taken.

Impact of the change of use / siting of caravans

7.37 The existing site has a close existing relationship with Hubberts Bridge Farmhouse,
its associated barn and garden wall, all of which are Grade 2 Listed. However, the
area within which caravans would be sited would be to the west, at a distance of in
excess of 60m, and there would be various structures and vegetation between. As
a result, it could be argued that the area within which the caravans would be sited,
could impact on the setting of these assets and as a result, impact on their
significance. Sited to the west of the development site the proposed caravans
(individually) would be relatively small scale and integrated where possible into the
landscape, sited within groups of established trees and additional planting where
possible. When taken collectively, the development could result in considerable
change to this area, however, it is considered that this would be undertaken in a
sensitive way, and thus any impact arising would be reduced through various
measures. Furthermore, the combination of the separation distances (over 60m)
and presence of existing buildings would further reduce any impacts upon the
setting of the heritage assets identified – particularly in relation to the visual
relationship/connection between the assets and the area where the units would be
sited. In addition, whilst the use of this area would be more intensive in nature than
the existing use as a golf course, it is not considered that any impacts arising would
be significantly greater or more adverse than presently could take place given the
lawful and historic use of the site – which can and does include noise and general
activity including those associated with events etc. which are held at the site. The
application also includes the provision of various mitigation and enhancement
measures including additional planting, and site controls which are integral to the
proposals, all of which would mitigate impacts arising. When taken collectively, it
is considered that the proposals for the siting of the caravans would have an
acceptable relationship with the identified heritage assets, and any impacts which
would arise following the implementation of all measures identified within the
application would be minor in nature. In Officers' view therefore such impacts could
result in harm to the significance of the heritage assets to the southeast, however,
any harm arising is considered by Officers to represent less than substantial harm,
and would be at the lower end of the scale. Any harm arising should therefore be
weighed within the planning balance as set out later in this report.

Impact of the sales area

7.38 A sales area and show units are proposed to the southeast of the site at the junction
with Langrick Road and the A1121. Due to the nature and scale of the sales area,
additional planting proposed and the intervening distance separations to the
heritage assets (in excess of 100m), the sales area would have only a limited
impact on the setting of the group of Listed Buildings to the southeast. Any lighting
in this area can be controlled by means of a condition to restrict the level of lighting

Page 30



and any potential light spill onto the neighbouring heritage assets. Equally, given
the relationship of this area with the listed structures at Elms Farm (in excess of
100m to the west), including the separation distances, existing boundary
treatments etc., and the scale and nature of development that is proposed within
the sales area, this would also only give rise to a limited level of impact. In both
cases, Officers consider that the impact of this element of the development is
unlikely to result in harm to the significance of the identified heritage assets, and in
the worst case would result in less than substantial harm (at the lower end of the
scale), which could be weighed within the planning balance.

Impact of the outline elements (including the hub building)

7.39 Concern has been expressed by the Conservation Officer in terms of the proposed
hub building. The concern was due to the size and scale of the building and its
location immediately adjacent to the A1121 and Langrick Road junction, and that
this would adversely affect the character of the area by irreparably eroding the
positive architectural characteristics of the local vicinity and that it would affect the
setting of the adjacent listed buildings by affecting the experience of the heritage
assets from the principle access roads. The ‘hub’ building has been applied for in
outline only with details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for
future consideration. In order to alleviate the concerns of the Conservation Officer
an amended masterplan has been submitted to illustrate another way in which the
proposed development could be accommodated on-site. The revised masterplan
indicates two hub separate buildings, positioned further in-site, more closely related
to existing buildings, with increased planting. In addition, images of what the design
of the building would take inspiration from, including appropriate materials, have
been submitted to demonstrate that the building could assimilate with the
landscape and application site.

7.40 The Conservation Officer, has advised that whilst the information improves the
situation as it gives a clear steer on the nature of the development there is still
concern over the size, materials, design and landscaping. The concern remains
that the impact of the proposals on the character of the area and the undesignated
heritage assets of the area still has not been thoroughly tested. The details of the
building are to be considered at the Reserved Matters stage and whilst there is
concern, the Conservation Officer is satisfied that these matters could be dealt with
at the detailed stage. Furthermore, detailed conditions and discussions will be
required to ensure that the proposals are innovative and enhance the local area,
rather than risk impacting negatively upon it.

7.41 It must be remembered that no matters pertaining to the ‘hub’ are to be fixed at this
stage. There is therefore potential for these matters to be further examined and
considered as the proposals for the ‘hub’ are developed and refined. It is
considered by Officers that in principle the development of a ‘hub’ within the broad
parameters identified could be accommodated on the site without having a harmful
impact upon the nearby listed buildings or their settings. Given the outline nature
of the proposal it is considered appropriate to adopt a cautious approach and
conclude that harm could occur but in light of the information provided to date,
Officers view this could be less than substantial harm which must therefore be
weighed within the planning balance. It is Officers' consideration that any harm
would be likely to be at the lower-end of less than substantial harm and would not
have a significant impact on the adjoining Listed Buildings or their settings. This is
in part informed by the extent of change that has taken place within the locality over
time as part of an evolving landscape. Officers therefore conclude that subject to

Page 31



suitably worded conditions the proposed ‘hub’ building would be acceptable in
principle and could be designed so as not to adversely impact on the architectural
characteristics of the local vicinity or the significance and setting of the adjacent
listed buildings. For these reasons, the proposal appears to accord with Section 66
of the Act, Policy 29 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 16 ‘Conserving and
enhancing the historic environment’ of the NPPF.

Summary in relation to impact on built heritage

7.42 A heritage impact assessment has been submitted with the application which
concludes that there would be no direct impact on built heritage, but the proposals
could impact on the setting of a number of assets. The report concludes that the
scheme would not result in any harm to the significance of assets identified.

7.43 Officers consider that there are existing relationships between the site and the
nearby heritage assets, and the proposed development could have an impact upon
the significance of those assets, most notably the heritage significance of Hubbert’s
Bridge Farmhouse Grade II Listed Building and associated listed structures.

7.44 Officers consider however that the proposals for the change of use to allow the
siting of caravans has been considered in a sensitive way, with mitigation
measures proposed. Therefore whilst impacts could arise from this element of the
proposals, such impacts are likely to only give rise to less than substantial harm,
and that any harm would be at the lower end of the scale. This harm may therefore
be weighed within the overall planning balance as set out later in this report.

7.45 Turning to the sales area and ‘Hub’ building, there is potential for these elements
of the proposal (located closer to the frontages of the site) to impact on the setting
and significance of both designated and non-designated assets by virtue of change
that would occur in this area. Whilst the submitted heritage impact assessment
concludes that there would be no harm, Officers have applied a cautious approach
and conclude that there is potential for harm to the setting of designated and non-
designated assets to occur as a result of change in these areas, and as such there
may be some impact on the setting of the adjoining listed buildings. However,
having considered all of the relevant detail accompanying the application, Officers
consider that in the worst case scenario, such harm would be considered as less
than substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage assets, and
would likely to be at the lower end of that scale. It is therefore considered
necessary, in line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF, that this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this instance the benefits of
the proposal; the economic, environmental and social benefits, and the mitigation
measures proposed, in terms of landscaping, would outweigh any identified harm,
and more consideration of this is given within the later sections of this report.

Impact on archaeology

7.46 Heritage Lincolnshire have advised that the site lies in an area of archaeological
interest. Cropmarks, including field systems, have been recorded in the area
together with finds of Romano-British pottery. Listed structures (Grade II) are
recorded adjacent to the proposal at Hubbert’s Bridge Farm and in the wider area
and a Romano-British ditch and a possible building (identified from cropmarks) and
finds of Romano British pottery are recorded in proximity to the north and west of
the development area. A find of Roman pottery has been recorded within the
proposed area. The archaeology adviser has stated that given the potential for

Page 32



archaeological remains it is recommended that a scheme of archaeological work
is required to determine their presence and character, in line with paragraph 189
of the NPPF.

7.47 The applicant has advised that the proposed caravan holiday homes are to be sited
on a permanent hardstanding to provide adequate support for the unit. The
hardcore base will be to a depth of approximately 150mm. The bases will also be
on land which has previously been landscaped as a golf course and which has
been subject to considerable previous earthworks and excavations and is best
described as made up ground. It is their belief that as a result of these factors, the
presence of or impact upon features of archaeological interest would be unlikely.
Officers are in agreement with this opinion and approach. It is considered that the
ground works would be limited and due to the current use of the site it would not
be considered reasonable to require trial trenching for the proposed caravan units.
It would be more reasonable to impose a condition to require the presence of an
archaeologist whilst undertaking only the most intrusive ground works, which would
relate to excavations associated with features such as the new ponds on the site.
Given this, it is considered unlikely that any harmful impacts would arise in
connection with these heritage assets.

7.48 Outline planning permission is sought for the erection of a hub building to the
southeast of the site which would require more significant ground intrusive works
as it would be a larger scale building(s). On this basis, given the fact that the site
has potential for archaeological remains, a condition requiring a scheme of
archaeological work for the hub building to determine the presence and character
of archaeological remains is considered reasonable and necessary. Subject to the
imposition of this condition, it is considered that it is unlikely that any harmful
impacts would arise in connection with these heritage assets.

Summary in relation to impact on heritage assets

7.49 It is considered by the applicants that the proposed development taken as a whole
is unlikely to adversely impact on any designated heritage assets and would not
result in any harm. Whilst Officers are in general agreement with the sentiment of
the applicant's position as set out in the supporting information, Officers do
consider that there is potential for some impacts to occur and such impacts could
be harmful. Applying a cautious approach given the overall scale of the proposals
and the outline nature of the hub building, Officers are of the view that some harm
to the significance of designated and non-designated assets may occur. However,
such harm would be likely to be less that substantial (and indeed would be at the
lower end of that scale) when taking in to consideration the full content of the
application and mitigation measures proposed. Such impacts may be outweighed
within the planning balance as set out later in this report. For these reasons,
subject to conditions, the proposal is in accordance with the requirements of the
‘the Act', Policy 29 of the SELLP and the intention of Section 16 of the NPPF.

Highway safety and car parking

7.50 The main vehicular access into the site would be to the east from Langrick Road
which is the current access serving the golf course, club house and hotel. No
changes are proposed to the access and internally existing and new access roads
will be created within the site to serve the caravan pitches. It must be remembered
that this existing access currently serves the golf-course as it has historically,
including when the site has been subject to events including tournaments and for

Page 33



functions such as conferences and weddings which take place at the site. The site
also benefits from a further entrance road to the north on to Kirton Drove. The
application is supported by a Transport Statement which seeks to identify the
existing level of impact and also considers the impact of the proposed
development.

7.51 Whilst concern has been raised by various parties in relation to highway safety and
congestion arising from the development, in particular at the junction with Hubbert’s
Bridge, the Highway Authority have advised that there would only be a small
increase in traffic associated with the development. The Transport Statement
(para. 7.10) indicates 3% in the am peak and 7.7% in the pm peak. They also
advise that the County Council have over many years reviewed the operation of
the Hubbert's Bridge junction and it has been considered that there is no
reasonably appropriate way that the junction layout could be significantly modified
to improve capacity.  Signalisation and roundabout options have been considered,
but given the constraints such as the railway crossing these are not practical and
the implementation of speed cameras and local widening has been introduced to
improve safety and accommodate the turning movements better. It is therefore
considered that the most appropriate way to mitigate the traffic impact is to
encourage sustainable modes as far as possible and the Highway Authority have
requested a contribution towards the CallConnect bus service, since existing
services in the area are limited. It is therefore concluded, subject to the contribution
requested, that the proposal would be acceptable in relation to highway safety.

7.52 Officers recognise the concerns of local people, including the Parish Council, and
recognise that the junction at Hubberts Bridge on to the A1121 is less than ideal
owing to the layout and physical constraints of this junction. However, Officers have
no reason to conclude a contra-view to that of the specialist advice provided by the
County Council as Highway Authority. It is therefore considered that subject to
conditions and the provision of the contribution identified being secured through a
S106 agreement, the scheme is acceptable in terms of highway impacts.

7.53 The Parish Council have raised concern over the lack of footpaths and the
crossings from the site into Hubbert’s Bridge to use the local facilities, such as the
Wheatsheaf Pub. The application is not proposing any additional connective links
and the concern of the Parish Council is noted. There is a footpath on Langrick
Road, whilst it does not extend as far up as the golf course entrance, it does provide
some access from the site to the village. Equally, while there is no formal crossing
point in this location, this is not uncommon in a countryside location such as this,
and as such does not necessarily indicate that the development proposed would
be unsafe. The Highway Authority have not objected to the proposal and in light of
any evidence to the contrary, Officers consider that a refusal of the development
on this basis would be unlikely to be sustainable at Appeal.

7.54 Policy 36 ‘Vehicle and Cycle Parking’ provides minimum parking standards for
various types of development. Annex 6 of the SELLP provides details on the level
of car parking and cycle parking expected and for caravan and leisure facilities will
be assessed on a case by case basis. Each pitch is to be provided with a parking
space and to the frontage of the site, around the hub building, there would be some
parking provision. Due to the nature of the proposed use the level of parking for
the caravan pitches is considered to be acceptable and there is adequate space
for parking for the ‘hub’ building which would broadly be in the location of the
existing parking facilities which would continue to serve the leisure offer. Overall, it
is considered that an appropriate approach to parking provision has been taken,

Page 34



there is sufficient space and scope to manage parking within the site, and the
development appears to be in accordance with Policy 36 of the SELLP and
associated Annex 6.

Impact on ecology

7.55 The application is accompanied by an Ecology and Protected Species Survey, a
further two supplementary reports have been submitted during the application
which extended the survey across the whole site and an additional survey of Great
Crested Newts and Water Voles.

7.56 The supplementary report included a preliminary roost assessment, for bats, which
concluded that there are no trees on site suitable for use by roosting bats and the
three buildings (Clubhouse, driving range and Hotel) were all assessed as having
negligible potential for use by bats, and will not be affected by works. The submitted
assessment goes on to state that the site has moderate potential for foraging bats
and low potential for commuting bats. The report recommends provision for habitat
retention, habitat creation, the provision of bat boxes and the commitment to design
an appropriate lighting scheme in order to avoid or minimise and adverse effects
on bats, all of which is supported.

7.57 A Great Crested Newt (GCN) and Water Vole Survey has also been submitted in
response to comments from the Ecology Consultant. The additional information
has been assessed by the Ecology Consultant, who concludes that the applicant
has provided sufficient evidence to support the conclusion that GCN and Water
Voles are unlikely to be present on site.

7.58 The site has been identified as lying within the Impact Risk Zone of The Wash Site
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The submitted surveys have been assessed
by Natural England and the Council's Ecology Consultant, who have raised no
objection to the proposal and are satisfied that the development will not have
significant adverse impacts on The Wash Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).

7.59 Policy 28 of the SELLP seeks to ensure that all development proposals provide an
overall net gain in biodiversity. The scheme proposes ecological enhancement.
The proposal has been assessed by Natural England, Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust
and the Council's Ecology Consultant who have all raised no objection to the
proposal subject to the requirement of a Construction Ecological Management Plan
(CEMP) and the delivery of the various measures included within the application to
mitigate the impact of the development and promote/enhance biodiversity at the
site. This can be secured via means of conditions. Based on the above assessment
it is considered that, subject to conditions, the proposal would accord with Policy
28 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the
natural environment’ of the NPPF.

Impact on trees and landscape

7.60 The application site is currently occupied by an 18-hole golf course which includes
areas of mature landscaping, trees and natural vegetation. None of this is subject
to formal preservation orders. The application proposes to change the use of part
of the site to accommodate up to 300 caravans and a hub building. The submitted
Design and Access Statement states that the proposal has been ‘landscaped-led’
with the proposed caravans and access roads directed to the existing fairways of
the golf course, which are defined by tree coverage and therefore form discreet

Page 35



‘cells’ of development. It goes on to state that this approach has been adopted in
the interests of maintaining the condition of the existing site vegetation coverage
and for environmental sustainability. The application has been supported by a Tree
Plan and an additional tree report has been submitted at the request of the
Council's Arboricultural Consultant.

7.61 Following the initial Arboricultural Consultant's advice changes to the site layout
were made to maximise the use of available space while resulting in reduced tree
loss, a full revised Arboricultural Impact Assessment in line with BS5837:2012 was
also submitted. The Council's Arboricultural Consultant has advised that whilst the
amended layout did not fully take on board the comments in terms of minimising
tree loss it is appreciated that a balance has to be struck in terms of maximising
site usage. The layout has been amended in an attempt to retain as many groups
of trees as possible and as such retain the value. On balance, it is considered that
a reasonable attempt has been taken given the overall condition of the individual
trees. The revised site layout is therefore considered to be an improvement and
subject to the imposition of conditions, in relation to compliance, full landscape plan
and a minimum 5-year management plan, the proposal would accord with Policy
28 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the
natural environment’ of the NPPF.

7.62 To the south east of the development area is the proposed ‘Hub’ building which
has been applied for in outline and as such the details are reserved for future
consideration. As such no meaningful information has been submitted in respect
of trees and landscaping. There is no objection to the principle of development in
this area, subject to the imposition of conditions to ensure that tree related matters
are identified and the trees within the Hub area are seen as a material consideration
within the design process for this building. Again, this can be revisited at the
Reserved Matters stage.

7.63 Overall, the landscape and arboreal value of the site would not be significantly
changed and any negative impacts would not give rise to significant amenity
impacts and could be appropriately mitigated and managed through the imposition
of appropriate conditions. The scheme includes for a landscape-led approach, and
there is potential for additional tree planting to make a positive impact upon the
environment of the site. Based on the revised layout plan and submitted details it
is considered that, subject to conditions, the proposal would accord with Policy 28
of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the
natural environment’ of the NPPF.

Flood risk and drainage

7.64 The application site lies within Flood Zone 3a which has a high probability of
flooding and the proposed use of the site for the siting of caravans is classed as a
more vulnerable use. The application is supported by a flood risk and drainage
report and includes a sustainable drainage system. Following consultation with the
Environment Agency, LLFA and the drainage board an amended application form
has been submitted and an addendum to the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) stating
that foul drainage is now to be connected into the public sewerage system close to
Hubbert’s Bridge Community Centre. The caravans are to be sited with the ground
floor level raised 500mm above the natural ground level to a minimum of
3.00mODN.

Page 36



7.65 The application has been assessed by the relevant drainage authorities and the
Environment Agency and no objection is raised, subject to the imposition of
conditions. The FRA also includes a Sequential and Exceptions Test, which has
also been considered appropriate. Policy 4 identifies that consideration should be
given to the Sequential and Exceptions Tests in order to encourage the use of sites
which are at a lesser risk of flooding. The Planning Statement identifies the specific
requirement for this proposal in this location as part of the diversification of an
existing leisure site, and that the proposals would support the existing business
and its economic viability. These statements are not disagreed with. Further (and
as discussed under the Principle section of this report), Officers would advise that
there can be no denying that this proposal is making use of an existing site,
therefore could be considered preferable to the use of an un-developed greenfield
site even if there are differences in flood risk vulnerability. Therefore, it is
considered that the proposals would be in general accordance with the
requirements of policy 4 in this regard, and in general terms, there are a number of
factors including the economic benefits arising which would outweigh any
perceived lack of compliance with the policy. As such, there is no objection to the
proposal from a drainage and flood risk perspective.

7.66 From a flood risk perspective, there is no reason why the accommodation proposed
should not be all-year-round holiday accommodation. This is owing to the particular
circumstances of this case including site levels and the FRA that is proposed
including the identified mitigation measures which would be secured by conditions.

7.67 Based on the above assessment it is considered that, subject to conditions, the
proposal would accord with Policy 4 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 14
‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’ of the
NPPF.

Impact on neighbour’s amenity

7.68 Policy 2 of SELLP states that development will only be permitted where there is no
impact upon neighbouring land uses by reason of noise, odour, disturbance or
visual intrusion, and Policy 3 states that residential amenity should be secured.
Section 12 of the NPPF, Achieving well-designed places, is also relevant; in
particular paragraph 127 which seeks to ensure development creates a high
standard of amenity for existing and future users. Due regard is given to the
established lawful use of the site, which has historically seen various events and
functions held at the premises.

7.69 There are dwellings to the south of the site on the A1121 which may be impacted
by the development. This group of dwellings includes Listed Buildings identified
earlier in this report and also a series of farm buildings. The caravans are to be
sited to the west of the existing farm and large agricultural buildings, and would be
sited some distance from the residential properties to the south. Further to the
southwest/west of the site is a group of dwellings and a large nursery on the A1121,
these would be separated by some distance with intervening mature landscaping
and a lake separating the dwellings from the proposed caravan pitches.

7.70 The proposed caravan units are relatively small in scale and would all be single
storey. All of the units proposed would be set away from the boundaries (with the
closest being approximately 10m to the common boundary). Due to the nature of
the development and distance separations/landscaping proposed Officers consider

Page 37



the proposal would not have any overbearing or over dominant impact on
residential properties to the south and southwest nor would it result in any loss of
privacy.

7.71 To the north of the site is a single detached dwelling which is accessed via a shared
access to the site from Kirton Drove, essentially this dwelling reads as part of the
course and was historically connected to it. The property would be separated from
the proposed caravans by mature landscaping and some distance separation (in
excess of 10m to the common boundary). The main outlook of this property would
remain over the golf course and open countryside to the west. Again, due to the
nature of the development, size and scale of the units proposed and distance
separation it is not considered by Officers that the proposed caravans would have
any adverse impact on the occupants of this property.

7.71 Overall it is Officer's opinion that the proposed siting and design of the caravan
units will not have any adverse impact on the occupants of adjoining residential
properties in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy or an overbearing impact.

7.72 To the southeast of the site is a collection of dwellings on the opposite side of
Langrick Road and further to the south on the opposite side of the A1121 and
railway line is the village of Hubbert’s Bridge. These are most likely to be impacted
upon by virtue of the hub (for which outline permission is sought) along with the
sales area. The indicative layout shows how this area would be developed, and
enhanced landscaping is shown on the indicative layout to the southern and south
eastern boundary which would mitigate the impact of the proposed building in
relation to the adjoining properties. Officer's consider the proposed distance
separation (in excess of 20m) and intervening highway/railway would ensure that
the proposed building would not have any adverse visual or privacy impact on
residents to the south and south east.

7.73 Regarding general activity associated with the site and noise and disturbance
matters, it is recognised that the change of use of part of the golf course and
creation of a ‘hub’ will increase visitors to the site which could have an impact on
respect of noise levels. Although it is acknowledged that there is and has been an
existing level of noise associated with the operation of the golf course and its
associated activities which can and does result in some significant impacts for
example noise associated with weddings/functions/events at the site. It is accepted
that there would be likely to be a change in the nature of the noise from the site,
most notably from children playing and use of the outdoor space around the
caravan units. Therefore, there will be potential for an increase in noise from the
site. However this would be mitigated in part by the presence of landscaping and
the areas within which such activities take place, but would also be managed by a
number of the measures proposed by the applicant. In overall terms, Officers do
not consider that such impacts would have any significant harmful impact on the
amenities of adjoining properties. The application has been assessed by
Environmental Health who have raised no objection to the proposals as a whole,
but have advised that details in respect of noise and hours of operation of the Hub
may be required at the reserve matters stage. This can be controlled by means of
a condition. In addition, it would be in the interests of the operator of the site to
manage the site appropriately to ensure it is of high-quality in line with the vision
that they have identified, and in any event, other statutory non-planning regimes
would remain in force should any nuisance impacts occur.

Page 38



7.74 Policy 30, Pollution, of the SELLP, states that development proposals will not be
permitted where, taking account of any proposed mitigation measures, they would
lead to unacceptable adverse impacts upon noise and light levels. Concern has
been expressed with regards to noise levels, particularly in relation to the ‘hub’ and
entertainment. Details of the ‘hub’ are reserved for future consideration including
open hours and any noise attenuation that might be required. As stated,
Environmental Health have raised no objection but have advised that further details
will be required, including a noise assessment which can be controlled by means
of a condition. In addition, the supporting information identifies that the site would
be appropriately managed, with terms and conditions applicable to all occupants
and users of the site (and their guests). Equally, this building would be likely to be
subject to other statutory non-planning regimes including Licensing, and also the
Environmental Protection Act should any adverse impacts occur. Overall therefore
it is considered that these concerns have been appropriately considered and would
be unlikely to give rise to sustainable reasons to refuse this current proposal.

7.75 There has also been concern expressed lighting, particularly as this is a rural area
and the increase usage of the site. Policy 30 of the SELLP relates to unacceptable
light levels and whilst no lighting scheme has been submitted with the application
the applicants have stated that it is anticipated the proposed lighting will be low-
level, except from around the hub building, where brighter lights will be required in
the interest of public safety. Where brighter lights will be used, these will be
directional to minimise light spill. Any proposed lighting strategy can be secured via
means of conditions.

7.76 Concern has been expressed with regards to the boundary treatment of the site, in
terms of security and access restrictions, as well as growth and maturity, with
concern that users of the site may stray onto neighbouring land which is utilised for
farming. A boundary treatment plan has been submitted showing the proposed
treatment of the boundaries relating to the area subject of the change of use, this
is further supported by detail within the application which highlights the intention to
create managed buffers to the neighbouring boundaries to prevent such impacts
occurring. To the west, south west and southern boundary it is proposed to
reinforce the existing vegetation and trees as well as additional planting along with
understorey planting. To the adjacent properties to the east of the site, subject of
the change of use, there would be additional planting with native shrubs and trees.
Along the northern boundary would be a mixed hedgerow with rabbit proof fencing
and stock fencing to enclose the site but to retain the views of the wider
landscaping. Internally along the eastern side (to the golf course) would be a knee
rail and hand gates for access. It is considered that the reinforced and additional
planting would provide an adequate boundary to prevent access as well as the
stock fencing to the north. The type, size and maturity of the planting will be
controlled by means of a condition and will be required to be replaced within a
specified time frame. It is considered that these physical measures, would be
sufficient, when considered in conjunction with the proper management of the site
to ensure that activities on site are appropriately managed to avoid any impacts on
neighbouring properties. In the unlikely event that visitors/guests did stray on to
neighbouring land outside of the site, this would be a civil matter between the
parties.

7.77 Overall, given the aforementioned, it is considered that the development would be
acceptable in relation to the impact on neighbouring amenity, the proposal would
therefore accord with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the SELLP and the requirements of
the NPPF.

Page 39



Developer Contributions

7.78 Policy 6 ‘Developer Contributions’ of the SELLP sets out the obligations for major
developments that may be required to mitigate impacts of new development on
local services and infrastructure.

7.79 The County Council, Highway/SuDs, have requested a developer contribution of
£5000 p.a for 5 years (total £25,000) to mitigate the traffic impact of the
development and to encourage sustainable transport. The request would support
the CallConnect bus service.

7.80 The request is proportionate with the proposed development and is considered to
be necessary and specific to the impact of the development. The applicants have
confirmed that they agree to the developer contribution request. This is considered
to meet the relevant ‘tests’ in relation to the imposition of planning obligations. An
appropriate Legal Agreement is being actioned between the Council and the
applicants to secure this, which would be required to be completed before
permission is issued.

Economic & Local Finance considerations

7.81 Policy 1(d) of the SELLP states that in the Countryside development will be
permitted that is necessary to such a location and/or where it can be demonstrated
that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in terms of economic,
community or environmental benefits. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that
achieving sustainable development requires the planning system to have three
overriding objections: an economic objective, a social objective and an
environmental objective. In addition, the Planning Practice Guidance indicates that
Local Finance Considerations can be material to decision making. The application
has been supported by an economic benefits report which identifies the economic
benefits of the proposal. The main economic benefits identified from the scheme
can be summarised as:
§ Estimated spend: Once the scheme is complete, it is estimated to generate

expenditure of £4.4 million per annum.
§ Gross Value Added: The scheme is estimated to generate around £2.3 million

per annum in gross value added (GVA – a common proxy for economic output)
for the economy.

§ Supporting permanent employment: The visitor spend associated with the 300
caravans will support an estimated 106 full-time equivalent jobs in the tourism
sector and wider economy.

7.82 Furthermore, the report identifies that the proposed development would help to
secure the economic vitality of the golf course and to ensure that no jobs would be
lost given the general economic trend indicating decline in the economic
performance of golf courses. It should be noted that the Council's Economic
Development Manager has raised no concerns with the report presented and is
generally supportive of the scheme.

Page 40



7.83 Given the above, there is significant potential for the proposals to have a positive
economic impact both directly and in-directly. In-direct impacts resulting from the
operation of the site could be wide ranging in nature and potentially contribute
significantly to the wider economy of the Borough and surrounding areas. There is
policy support for the provision of proposals which support the economy and which
support the function of tourism. As a consequence, it is considered that these
factors should weigh significantly in favour of the proposal within the planning
balance, and this would reinforce that the proposal would be in accordance with
policies 1 and 9 of the SELLP and the NPPF in terms of economic benefits arising.

Sustainability

7.84 At the heart of Policy 1 of the SELLP and the NPPF is achieving sustainable
development in terms of economic, social/community or environmental benefits.
Various policies within the SELLP also support these aims through the matters
such as encouraging a high-quality design, ensuring flood risk is fully considered,
reducing reliance on the need to travel and the inclusion of biodiversity
enhancements.

7.85 The proposed is seeking permission for high-quality designed caravan units which
are to be fully insulated, feature ‘A’ rated PVCu windows and doors, as well as low-
energy lighting and improved ventilation. The proposal also includes a sustainable
urban drainage system, including the re-purposing of existing ponds on the golf
course. Whilst the development would require people to access the
accommodation by cars, it is considered that the need to travel would be reduced
through providing a mix of uses within the site and the implementation of a
Framework Travel plan to encourage travel by sustainable means. An improved
nine-hole golf course will be retained and driving range and the proposed hub
building is to provide a diverse range of recreational facilities and an ancillary retail
store would sell basic convenience goods. This will reduce the need to travel away
from the application site for these goods.

7.86 The scheme would deliver significant direct and in-direct economic impacts, with
the creation of a year round tourism destination (including accommodation and
facilities). There is potential for visitors/users of the site to contribute to the
economy of the Borough through accessing the various facilities, attractions and
services found within the Borough including the town centre. The proposals would
also directly create jobs associated with the operation of the site, as well as within
wider supply chains. These are significant benefits arising.

7.87 Furthermore, the proposal has been designed to integrate into the existing site with
minimal impact to existing trees and proposes enhanced landscaping. There would
be limited impact on ecology within the site and the development includes
improvements for biodiversity. There is significant potential for the site to deliver
biodiversity net gain, and the application has demonstrated that there would not be
any adverse impact upon protected species or designations, subject to the
measures proposed.

7.88 In terms of sustainable travel, the application site is located in the open countryside
but there is an existing leisure use on the site. However, the application site is
located adjacent the Hubbert’s Bridge Railway Station which enables the site to be
connected to Boston town centre in a sustainable manner and the applicants have

Page 41



agreed to support the CallConnect bus in the interests of encouraging sustainable
transport and a travel framework is to be required. There is also access to
appropriate routes for walking and cycling in the general locality which may be
attractive to users of the site and the promotion of which can be reinforced through
the travel framework. Furthermore, the proposed mix of uses on the site would
reduce some of the need to travel. The applicants have also agreed to provide EV
charging points within the site which again would be in accordance with the
objectives of sustainability.

7.89 Overall, the proposal is considered to represent a sustainable development and
would meet the requirements of Policy 1 and 31 of the SELLP and the requirements
of the NPPF.

Planning Conditions

7.90 Members will note that the conditions as set out below are broken into conditions
which relate to the elements granted full planning permission and those elements
granted outline planning permission. This is reflective of the hybrid nature of the
application. The conditions are also issue specific, and thus there are some which
are duplicated across both elements of the overall permission.

In summary the following matters are dealt with by way of conditions:
§ Standard conditions relating to time limits
§ Approved plans
§ Drainage/Flooding
§ Trees
§ Archaeology
§ Design Brief
§ Noise
§ Ecology
§ Parking
§ Limitation of use/occupancy
§ Layout
§ Landscaping
§ Lighting
§ Boundary treatment

7.91 In addition to the standard conditions which limits the life span of the planning
permission and the approved plans, conditions are recommended which relate to
drainage and flood risk, tree retention and protection, landscaping, biodiversity
enhancement, boundary treatment, lighting and archaeology. Members particular
attention are drawn to a series of conditions to be imposed which relate to the use,
occupancy, number, and type of caravans on the site.

7.92 In devising the extent and wording of the conditions, due regard has also been
given to the applicant’s position in respect of the phasing of the delivery of the
development. Clearly there is a desire, enhanced in part as a result of the Covid-
19 situation, to commence the development as soon as practicably possible in
order to deliver some units on site and generate income which can then be used
to fund the remainder of the development. On this basis, the applicants have
presented a phasing plan which seeks to allow development to take place in a
controlled manner, whilst allowing further detail to be developed on technical
matters such as drainage, ecology etc. The conditions have also been discussed
with the applicants, who are in agreement with the proposed conditions.

Page 42



7.93 Officers have carefully considered the proposed phasing arrangements in light of
the various reports associated with the application and the comments of various
consultees. This has then informed the wording of the conditions as proposed. This
is important in order to ensure than an appropriate balance is struck between
scheme viability, delivery, and the need to ensure the requisite mitigation and
enhancement measures are secured.

8.0 Planning Balance

8.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with
the development plan unless materials considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-
defined in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be
taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up the extent to which
proposals are in accordance with/conflict with policies of the development plan and
their objectives, along with all relevant materials considerations. The weight
attributed to each of these factors within the exercise is known as the ‘planning
balance’.

8.2 The proposal would support and enhance existing leisure facilities and would
promote a strong visitor economy. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal
would result in the partial loss of the golf course the supporting information has
justified this loss. The proposal would offer a more rounded leisure facility with a
nine-hole golf course and driving range of which there is a proven need. The
provision of additional tourism accommodation is supported by policy 9 of the
SELLP. Therefore, the principle of the development is considered acceptable and
would accord with Policy 1 and 9. The scheme would make a significant
contribution to the economy within the Borough. The proposal would also lead to
the enhancement of existing leisure facilities and promote new tourism in line with
Policy 32.

8.3 The proposed layout and scale of development would result in a level of change
which may in turn result in a level of harmful impact arising. However, such impacts
have been carefully considered and the scheme has been proposed with various
measures to mitigate and manage any impacts arising. Whilst the proposal would
alter and change the landscape this would be mitigated through measures
including additional landscaping and restrictions imposed through planning
conditions (i.e. those relating to scale of development and presentation of
Reserved Matters submissions). The proposal would have the potential to harm
the significance of both designated and non-designated assets. However, having
considered this, Officers feel it is unlikely that any harm arising would be greater
than less than substantial harm and would be at the lower end of the scale,
particularly when considering the full content of the application and mitigation
measures proposed. When taken as a whole, the development generally accords
with the aims of the development plan in respect of these issues.

8.4 The overall scheme is unlikely to cause undue harm to the general character and
appearance of the area. The scheme would result in a visual change to the area,
however, these are considered minor in nature given the existing leisure use of the
site and the improvements to the landscaping.  Furthermore, the development can
be achieved without a detrimental impact on the residential amenity of adjoining
properties.

Page 43



8.5 The environmental impacts of this development in relation to highway impact,
ecology, trees, flood risk and general sustainability are considered acceptable and
can be appropriately mitigated through the imposition of conditions. Therefore, the
scheme would comply with policies 2, 3, 4, 28 and 36 of the SELLP.

8.6 It has been demonstrated that the proposal would provide economic benefits to the
area and wider area, and that the development would be sustainable in terms of
the economic, social and environmental objectives, all of these factors weigh in
favour of the development that is proposed.

8.7 To conclude, when taken as a whole, it is the Officers' opinion that the scheme
would be acceptable in the planning balance subject to the imposition of conditions
as recommended, and in Officers' view, the scheme would be in accordance with
the Development Plan when taken as a whole. Where any minor conflicts with the
plan or minor material harm would occur these negatives would be outweighed by
other material planning considerations, including the considerable economic, and
environmental benefits that are likely to arise from the development.

9.0 Summary and Conclusion

9.1 The proposal would result in a caravan and tourism development which would
provide a significant contribution to the local economy and the tourist sector. The
site is suitable for leisure development due to the existing use and the primary
issues in the determination of the application have been fully assessed as identified
above and found to be acceptable or would be acceptable subject to the imposition
of the conditions recommended below. It is therefore recommended that the
application be approved.

10.0 Recommendation

10.1 It is recommended that Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject
to the following conditions, informatives, and the conclusion of a Legal Agreement.

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

CONDITIONS RELATING TO FULL PLANNING PERMISSION FOR: Part change
of use of the Golf Course for the siting of caravans with associated works
including landscaping, hardstanding and access routes

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 Unless varied by other conditions attached to and forming part of this decision, the
development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
§ Ref: P19-2767.006 – ‘Location Plan’
§ Ref: P19-2767.015 – ‘Red Line Boundary Plan Western Area’
§ Ref: P19-2767.16 – ‘Boundary Treatment- Western Area Enlargement’
§ Ref: P19-2767.007 Rev C – ‘Illustrative site layout’

Page 44



§ Ref: P19-2767.14 – ‘Typical Unit Layout’

And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of supporting documents
which accompany the application including:
§ Economic Benefits Report
§ Foul Drainage Strategy
§ Heritage Desk Based Assessment
§ Ecology and Protected Species Survey
§ Flood Risk Assessment
§ Transport Statement
§ Landscape Visual Appraisal
§ Planning, Economic and Design and Access Statement
§ Vitality and Needs Assessment
§ Tree Report

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with approved
plans in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036).

3 The change of use to allow the siting of caravans hereby permitted relates solely to the
area within the red line denoted on plan reference P19-2767.015 – ‘Red Line Boundary
Plan Western Area’. No caravans shall be sited outside of this area.

For the avoidance of doubt, no other similar structures / additions (e.g. camping pods),
touring caravans, motor homes, tents, or other forms of temporary holiday
accommodation, shall be sited anywhere on the site.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with approved
details in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036).

4 The development hereby permitted, in particular the layout of the site including siting
of the caravans; layout and arrangements of access roads; position and scale of SUDS
features and position and extent of areas of planting; should be undertaken in
substantial accordance with the illustrative plans submitted, plan reference P19-
2767.007 Rev C – ‘Illustrative site layout’.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved scheme is
implemented satisfactorily based on the details submitted with the application, in
accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

5 The development shall be implemented in substantial accordance with the phasing
plan (dated 3rd July 2020) and supporting letter submitted on the 25th June 2020.

Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been applied for,
in accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

6 A maximum of 300 caravans are permitted only within the approved development area
as denoted on plan reference P19-2767.015 – ‘Red Line Boundary Plan Western Area’.
No caravans shall be sited outside of this area.

For the avoidance of doubt, no other similar structures / additions (e.g. camping pods),
touring caravans, motor homes, tents, or other forms of temporary holiday
accommodation, shall be sited anywhere on the site.

Page 45



Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been applied for,
in accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

7 The caravans hereby permitted shall be occupied for holiday purposes only and shall
not be occupied as a person’s sole or main place of residence.

Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been applied for,
that it is restricted to holiday use only and the accommodation is not used for
permanent residential accommodation. This condition is imposed in accordance with
Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

8 The owners/operators of the site shall maintain an up-to-date register of the names of
all occupiers of the accommodation on the site, length of stay (including details of
arrival and departure dates) and of their main home addresses, and shall make this
information available to the Local Planning Authority on request.

Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been applied for,
that it is restricted to holiday use only and the accommodation is not used for
permanent residential accommodation. This condition is imposed in accordance with
Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

9. Prior to siting of any caravans within any phase, details of the types of unit (including
size, design and proposed materials for the caravan units) to be sited within that phase,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only
those types of unit approved shall be sited within each phase.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved scheme is
implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

10 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the
commencement of works within each phase a detailed scheme of landscaping for that
phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
This shall include details of both hard and soft landscape works (including new
planting) and earthworks. The scheme as approved shall be completed in full not later
than the end of the first planting season following the occupation of the final holiday
unit in each phase.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

11 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the
commencement of works within each phase a detailed a landscape management plan
for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The landscape management plan shall include long term design objectives,
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas and
areas of new planting within that phase. Each phase of the site shall thereafter be
managed in accordance with the management plan at all times.

Page 46



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

12. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the
commencement of works within each phase, a detailed schedule of landscape
maintenance for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The schedule shall cover a period of not less than 5years from the
first occupation of the last unit within each phase or the completion of the
landscaping/planting within that phase whichever is the later. Landscape maintenance
shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed schedule for that phase only.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

13. Where the development or groundworks within any phase would require excavations
exceeding a depth of 1m, no such works shall proceed unless there is presence of an
archaeologist on site who shall observe the excavations and record items of interest
and finds that may be encountered.
If during development within any phase, any features of archaeological interest are
discovered, works shall cease and no further works shall proceed until such time as
details of a written scheme of investigation and recording have been submitted to the
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter work on that phase shall continue in accordance
with the approved scheme of investigation and recording.

Reason: In the interest of protecting heritage assets and features of archaeological
interest, in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

14. Prior to the installation of any lighting within each phase or within the sales area, details
of the location and type of lighting to be installed, along with details of illumination
levels, any shielding proposed, and timing of the illumination, shall be submitted to the
Local Planning Authority for agreement in writing. Any lighting shall then only be
installed in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of lighting is provided which is not detrimental
to the amenity of the area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

15. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, a Framework Travel Plan shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall
include measures to encourage sustainable travel to and from the site, including
provision of information such as: pre-arrival information, location of local facilities and
how to get to them by alternative means, routes for cycling & walking, provision of
public transport information and timetables. The Travel Plan shall set out monitor able
objectives for sustainable travel along with mechanisms for monitoring and review. The
applicant shall implement and monitor the approved travel plan in accordance with the
approved plan at all times when the accommodation hereby permitted is available for
occupation.

Page 47



Reason: To encourage sustainable development in accordance with Policy 1 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the overarching principles of the
NPPF.

16. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, the boundary treatment as detailed
on plan reference P19-2767.16, ‘Boundary Treatment- Western Area Enlargement’,
shall be implemented. No more than 20units shall be occupied until the boundary
treatments have been completed in full. The approved boundary treatment shall be
permanently retained and maintained thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved scheme is
implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

17. The siting of caravans hereby permitted by this planning permission shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) December
2019/Version 1/ RM Associates and the following mitigation measures detailed within
the FRA:
§ Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3m above Ordnance Datum (AOD)
§ Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the proposed

development as stated

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each unit
and subsequently remain in place.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants, and to comply with policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

18. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, a flood warning and evacuation plan
for the entire site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved plan shall then be implemented from the occupation of the
first caravan on site, and the site shall be operated in accordance with the agreed plan
at all times.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the future occupants, and to comply with
policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

19. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, no development or
works (including ground works and vegetation clearance) shall take place until a
Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and been
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Guidance on the structure of the CEMP can be found in BS 42020:2013 Biodiversity
Code of Practice for Planning and Development. The CEMP should accord with the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (paragraphs 170, 174 & 175) and chapter
28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.

Suggested topics for inclusion into the CEMP should include but not be limited to:
§ Scheme description
§ Identification of areas/species of conservation interest
§ Risk assessment of potentially damaging activities and identification of biodiversity
§ protection zones/sensitive areas

Page 48



§ Habitats and species protection - practical measures to be adhered to avoid or
minimise impacts during construction e.g. a series of method statements for
badgers, bats, common reptiles, hedgehogs and birds etc.

§ Incorporation of SuDS and Green Infrastructure
§ Full details of how the recommendations in Section 5 of the Inspired Ecology report

(March 2020) will be incorporated into the scheme, by what date, how they will be
monitored, by whom, how often and for how long.

§ The roles and responsibilities of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECofW) to oversee
the implementation of the CEMP and undertake required monitoring and
maintenance.

§ Responsible persons and lines of communication.
§ Details on the submission of interim progress reports to the LPA as evidence of

compliance, to report on success failure of mitigation and where necessary the need
to amend the CEMP.

§ Measures for management, monitoring and recording related to all actions
undertaken as a result of the CEMP, for a period of not less than 5years from the
completion of the works identified by the CEMP or the last unit to be occupied,
whichever is the later.

The development of the site shall then only proceed in accordance with the agreed
Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP).

Reason: In the interest of protected species, and to support ecological protection and
biodiversity enhancement, in accordance with Policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

20. There will be no removal of vegetation within the breeding bird season (1 March and
31 August inclusive), unless a search for active nests has been made by an ecologist
in advance. Any nests found with eggs or young will be identified and protected until
the young have fledged.

Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

21 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to siting or
occupation of any caravan within each phase, full details of a scheme of foul water
drainage for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These details shall include connection points, discharge rates, and
timetable for the provision of any required foul drainage infrastructure - which may
include on and off-site works. All required works relating to that phase, shall then be
delivered in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that adequate foul drainage is provided, to ensure that there is
sufficient infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of the development and prevent flooding
and pollution as a result of the development, and to comply with policies 2, 4, and 30
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

22. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to siting or
occupation of any caravan within each phase, full details of a scheme of surface water
drainage for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

These details shall be based upon be based on sustainable drainage principles and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, and
shall include:
§ details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up to

Page 49



and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate
for the
undeveloped site;

§ details of connection points, attenuation details and discharge rates (which shall be
restricted to greenfield run off rate);

§ details of the timetable provision of for the surface water drainage scheme; and
§ details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime of

the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation
of the drainage system throughout its lifetime.

All required works relating to that phase, shall then be delivered in accordance with the
approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that adequate surface water drainage is provided, to ensure that
there is sufficient infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of the development and prevent
flooding and pollution as a result of the development, and to comply with policies 2, 4,
and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

CONDITIONS RELATING TO OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR: Development of
a “Hub” Building(s) of up to 12,000sqm total floorspace containing an ancillary
reception/activity centre/Spa (Use Class D2)/Retail Unit (up to 100sqm)/food and
beverage (use classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities management and ancillary works;
and provision of a sales building and associated works.

23 No development shall commence until details of the access, layout, appearance, scale
and landscaping of the development (hereafter referred to as the ‘reserved matters’)
have been submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: This is an outline application only and such details must be approved before
development commences in order to comply with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

24. Application for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority not later than the expiration of four years from the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

25. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

26. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include the following arboricultural detail:
1. Tree Survey and Constraints details.
2. An Impact Assessment.
3. A Method Statement and/or Tree Protection Plan to BS5837:2012 Trees in relation
to design demolition and construction - Recommendations methodology.

Page 50



The details shall identify (not necessarily exclusively) the following:
§ Identification of trees to be retained and those to be removed.
§ Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to appropriate

ground protection measures within the Root Protection Areas of all retained trees
within the site.

§ Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and
landscaping phases with details on how the impact will be minimised. This includes
the location and specification of 'no dig' constructions (where applicable).

§ Details of facilitation pruning.
§ Location for access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare facilities

etc.
§ Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes in

soil level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees.
§ Details of signage to be erected within the tree protection areas

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

27. No swimming pool or pools greater than 20m in individual length shall be installed
within or associated with the hub building(s) unless the prior written agreement of the
Local Planning Authority has been obtained.

In the event that the Hub building(s) or the associated area, is to include the provision
of a swimming pool over 20m in length then the reserved matters submission shall be
accompanied by a strategic needs assessment which shall include an assessment of
the impact of the pool and wider strategic need for pools of the size and type proposed,
and demonstrate that the proposal would not negatively impact upon other strategic
facilities.

Reason: To ensure that the development complies with the South East Lincolnshire
Sports Provision and Open Space and strategic need and in accordance with Policy
32 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

28. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include full details of an archaeological evaluation to determine the presence,
character and date of any archaeological deposits present within the area proposed
for the Hub building(s), and details of any mitigation measures required as part of the
development. This evaluation should include details such as: a written scheme of
investigation; details of geophysical survey and trial trenching and any associated
results; and any necessary mitigation measures including but not limited to an
archaeological watching brief.

Reason: In the interest of considering the impact upon and protecting heritage assets,
in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

29. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include a detailed design brief for the ‘Hub’ building(s) including:
§ Design principles applied to the new building and full design details of the

building(s) including external appearance
§ Details of how the relationships with existing physical features, and surrounding

developed forms including designated and non-designated heritage assets have
influenced and shaped the design of the hub building

Page 51



§ Details of all external materials and finishes to be used on the building and
surrounding hard landscaping and boundaries

§ The layout siting and scale of the building(s) and uses to be contained therein
§ Details relating to landscaping – including retention or replacement of existing trees

as appropriate and any additional planting proposed
§ Details of proposed lighting to serve the building and surrounding areas
§ Any phasing of development

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the historic environment, in accordance
with Polices 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

30. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include a noise assessment for the ‘Hub’ building(s) and details of the proposed hours
of use/operation.

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy 2 and 3 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

31. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP).

Guidance on the structure of the CEMP can be found in BS 42020:2013 Biodiversity
Code of Practice for Planning and Development. The CEMP should accord with the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (paragraphs 170, 174 & 175) and chapter
28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Suggested topics for inclusion into the CEMP should include but not be limited to:
§ Scheme description
• Identification of areas/species of conservation interest
§ Risk assessment of potentially damaging activities and identification of

biodiversity
§ protection zones/sensitive areas
• Habitats and species protection - practical measures to be adhered to avoid or

minimise impacts during construction e.g. a series of method statements for
badgers, bats, common reptiles, hedgehogs and birds etc.

§ Incorporation of SuDS and Green Infrastructure
• Full details of how the recommendations in Section 5 of the Inspired Ecology report

(March 2020) will be incorporated into the scheme, by what date, how they will be
monitored, by whom, how often and for how long.

• The roles and responsibilities of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECofW) to oversee
the implementation of the CEMP and undertake required monitoring and
maintenance.

• Responsible persons and lines of communication.
• Details on the submission of interim progress reports to the LPA as evidence of

compliance, to report on success failure of mitigation and where necessary the need
to amend the CEMP.

§ Measures for management, monitoring and recording related to all actions
undertaken as a result of the CEMP, for a period of not less than 5years from the
completion of the works identified by the CEMP or the last unit to be occupied,
whichever is the later.

Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

32. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition23 above shall
include details of the arrangements for the parking / turning / manoeuvring / loading /
unloading of vehicles within the site.  These approved arrangements shall be

Page 52



implemented before the 'Hub' building(s) are occupied and shall be kept permanently
available for such use at all times thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory parking and turning in accordance with
Policy 36 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

33. The ‘Hub’ building(s) hereby approved shall be restricted to a maximum of 12,000 sqm
floorspace, and shall only comprise the following uses:
§ Reception and associated facilities management / ancillary areas
§ Activity centre/Spa (Use Class D2)
§ Retail Unit – (Use Class A1) up to a maximum of 100sqm to be ancillary to the wider

site
§ Food and beverage facilities – (Use Classes A4 and A5) to be ancillary to the wider

site

Reason: To ensure that the size and use of the building remains compatible with the
surrounding area and in accordance with Policy 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan (2011-2036).

34. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) December 2019/Version
1/ RM Associates and the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:
§ Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3m above Ordnance Datum (AOD)
§ Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the proposed

development as stated

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to first use of the development
and subsequently remain in place.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants, and to comply with policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

35. No building works to the ‘Hub’ building(s) shall be undertaken until full details of a
scheme including phasing, for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure on and
off site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The building(s) shall not be brought into use until the works have been carried out in
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through
provision of suitable water infrastructure, and to comply with policies 2, 4 and 30 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

34. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include a strategic/business plan for the retained golfing facilities which includes
improvements to the golfing facilities, including upgrading of the driving range and
practice facilities, and timing for the delivery of such improvements, as well as
measures to attract membership, particularly within the local community.

Reason: To ensure that retention and enhancement of the existing leisure facilities in
accordance with Policy 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

35. There will be no removal of vegetation within the breeding bird season (1 March and
31 August inclusive), unless a search for active nests has been made by an ecologist
in advance. Any nests found with eggs or young will be identified and protected until
the young have fledged.

Page 53



Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

36. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above shall
include details of renewable energy provisions, including the location and number of
EV charging points to be provided, along with a timetable for the
implementation/installation of such provisions.

Reason: To ensure the development meets the requirements in respect of climate
change in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

Informatives

1. Notwithstanding the conditions imposed and the requirements of any other regulatory
regimes, the Local Planning Authority advocate that the site is implemented and
managed in  with the site rules as set out in the ‘Woodland Nature Resort –
Overarching Management Principles’ document dated 4th May 2020.

Informatives requested by Anglian Water
2. Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to

an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public
open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the
developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Or, in the case of
apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It
should be noted that the diversion works should normally be completed before
development can commence.

3. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry
Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry
Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087.

4. A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land identified for the proposed
development. It appears that development proposals will affect existing public sewers.
It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian Water Development Services
Team for further advice on this matter. Building over existing public sewers will not be
permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.

5. No building will be permitted within the statutory easement width of 3 metres from the
pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact Development Services
Team on 0345 606 6087.

6. The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of
the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team on
0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be
designed and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for
developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements.

7. It is highly recommend that you engage with Anglian Water at your earliest
convenience to develop in consultation with us a feasible drainage strategy. If you have
not done so already, we recommend that you submit a Pre-planning enquiry with our
Pre-Development team. This can be completed online at
http://www.anglianwater.co.uk/developers/pre-development.aspx

Page 54



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0473

Erection of a one and a half storey building
comprising ground floor

retail unit (use class A1) and
a first floor 1-bed apartment,

together with revised access and parking arrangements

2 Eastwood Road, Fishtoft, Boston, PE21 0PH

Mr Erhan Akyuz

Page 55

Agenda Item 2



P
age 56



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 28th July 2020

Reference No: B/19/0473

Expiry Date: 24-Jan-2020
Extension of Time: 31-Jul-2020

Application Type: Full Planning Permission
Proposal: Erection of a one and a half storey building comprising ground floor

retail unit (use class A1) and a first floor 1-bed apartment, together
with revised access and parking arrangements

Site: 2, Eastwood Road, Fishtoft, Boston, PE21 0PH

Applicant: Mr Erhan Akyuz
Agent: Mr Neil Dowlman, Neil Dowlman Architecture Ltd

Ward: Fishtoft Parish:Fishtoft Parish Council

Case Officer: Simon Eldred Third Party Reps: None

Link to application: B/19/0473

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions

Page 57

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by
Councillor J. Skinner, who is concerned that the parking provision proposed as part
of the development is inadequate.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site occupies the north-eastern quadrant of land at the crossroads
of Woodthorpe Avenue, Lindis Road, Eastwood Road and Freiston Road. It
contains a two-storey red brick building with a pitched tiled roof, with attached, flat-
roofed, single-storey elements to the south and to the north, and a small yard
enclosed by a 2.5m high brick wall. The ground floor of the buildings is in use as a
shop, and the first floor as a flat (with a living room, one bedroom, a bathroom, a
kitchen and a hallway).

2.2 The boundaries of the application site onto Lindis Road and Eastwood Road are not
enclosed, and the majority of the site itself is open and undeveloped – most is
gravel-surfaced, but southern parts are tarmaced. The western elevation of the
building displays signs inviting customer car parking - spaces are not lined out, but
it is estimated that there is sufficient space for 7 cars to be parked in this location.
Further opportunities for parking are potentially available to the north of the
buildings, with a dropped-kerb providing access.

2.3 The site is located in a predominantly residential area, with existing dwellings to all
sides. However, a number of commercial activities are concentrated approximately
75m to the east – these are: a COOP foodstore and petrol filling station; a One Stop
general store and Post Office; a pet shop; a tanning salon; and a hairdressing salon.
The SELLP shows the site as being within Boston’s Settlement Boundary, but no
specific allocations or designations apply. A cycle route is shown on Lindis Road.

2.4 The crossroads at which the application site is located is often busy, with vehicles
waiting to turn or to cross, and there are double yellow lines on Eastwood Road and
extending into Lindis Road to restrict on-street parking and ensure free-flowing
vehicle movements. In addition, the area is heavily used by pedestrians to access
the existing facilities or those nearby, and there is a zebra crossing over Eastwood
Road in close proximity to the site.

2.5 The proposals have been revised, and reduced significantly from the original
submission. It is proposed to erect a one and a half storey building to the north of
the existing buildings. The building’s front (western) elevation would be 9.46m in
width, its rear (eastern) elevation 8.89m, and its side elevations would be 8.64m. It
will stand 3.6m-high at eaves level and 6.35m-high at the ridge of its hipped-roof. It
will be set back approximately 9m from the site’s Lindis Road frontage, and would
abut the boundaries with the properties to the north (52 Lindis Road) and east (4
Eastwood Road).

2.6 It would provide a retail unit (91.7m2 gross floor area) at ground floor level and a flat
at first floor level/within the roof space (with a living room, one bedroom, a kitchen,
a bathroom, and a hallway). It would have a shopfront at ground floor level in its
western elevation and, at first-floor level would have: two dormer windows looking
west (towards Lindis Road); one dormer window and 2 rooflights looking east
(towards the rear garden of 4 Eastwood Road); and one rooflight in the southern

Page 58



roof-slope. The first-floor flat would be accessed via an external steel staircase and
partly-glazed door on the building’s southern elevation.

2.7 Vehicular access will be from Lindis Road (via an existing dropped kerb) and
vehicles will exit the site onto Eastwood Road (via an existing dropped kerb) - an
existing dropped kerb at the corner of the two roads will be removed. The site will
provide a total of 9 car parking spaces (2 to serve the existing and proposed flats,
and seven to serve the existing and proposed shops) and a 7.5m x 2.5m bay to
accommodate delivery vehicles. Street bollards (0.6m-high) would be erected at 2m
centres along the site’s boundary.

2.8 These proposals are revisions of an initial scheme for the erection of a two-storey
side extension and a one-and-a-half storey building on the application site. Those
initial proposals were considered to have unacceptable impacts upon the character
and appearance of the area and to make inadequate provision for the parking of
vehicles. The revised proposals have been fully re-advertised and are the scheme
presently for determination.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 In 2001, full planning permission (B/01/0053) was granted for a single storey
extension to the shop.

4.0 Relevant Policy

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

The following policies are considered to be the most relevant to this proposal:

§ Policy 1: Spatial Strategy;
§ Policy 2: Development Management;
§ Policy 3: Design of New Development;
§ Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk;
§ Policy 24: The Retail Hierarchy;
§ Policy 27: Additional Retail Provision;
§ Policy 30: Pollution;
§ Policy 31: Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy; and
§ Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking.

National Planning Policy Framework

§ Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development
§ Section 4: Decision-making;
§ Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes;
§ Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy;
§ Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport;
§ Section 11: Making Effective Use of Land

Page 59



§ Section 12: Achieving well-designed places;
§ Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal

change

5.0 Representations

5.1 No representations were received.

6.0 Consultations

6.1 Lincolnshire County (as Local Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority)
concludes that the proposed development is acceptable and does not wish to
object. However, it asks that:
§ two conditions should be attached to any planning permission – these

conditions require: the closure of an existing access within seven days of the
new access being brought into use; and the reduction in height of an existing
boundary treatment; and

§ two highway informatives should be included with the decision notice – the
informatives remind the applicant that the Highway Authority’s approval will
be required for the formation of a new/amended vehicular access.

6.2 Boston Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department indicates that a
second retail unit at this site may generate increased activity and noise, and that
the hours that the retail unit operates may need to be restricted to reduce impacts
on residential amenity. They indicate that the proposals should not have a
significant impact on air quality within the area, but request that:
§ electric vehicle recharging points should be provided within the development

to mitigate any harm caused by increased numbers of vehicles using the site;
and

§ any gas fired boilers installed should meet a minimum standard of 40mg
NOx/KWh, as recommended by the East Midlands Air Quality Network’s
document ‘Guidance for Developers’.

6.3 The Environment Agency indicates that the proposed development will meet the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework provided the measures
detailed in the Flood Risk Assessment submitted with the application are
implemented. They ask that these measures should be secured by means of the a
condition as recommended later in this report.

6.4 Fishtoft Parish Council asks that a pedestrian road crossing should be installed to
alleviate safety concerns.

6.5 The Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage Board asks to be reconsulted if any
change is proposed to the surface water or treated water disposal arrangements
stated in the application.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination must be made in accordance with the Plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The key considerations in regards to this
application are:

Page 60



§ Principle of Development
§ Impacts upon highway safety
§ Whether adequate parking provision is included
§ Impacts on the character and appearance of the area
§ Impacts upon neighbours’ amenities
§ Other matters – including impacts upon air quality and water use.

Principle of development

7.2 Policy 1 of the Local Plan indicates that within Boston’s Settlement Boundary,
development will be permitted that supports its role as a Sub-Regional Centre. It is
considered that these proposals accord with the provisions of this Policy.

7.3 Policy 24 of the Local Plan indicates that “individual local shops and small
neighbourhood clusters of them within a settlement boundary, which meet the day-
to-day needs of nearby residents, will be promoted. Wherever possible such new
uses should be located in close proximity to each other, unless serving very local
catchments e.g. corner shops.” It is considered that these proposals accord with the
provisions of this Policy – particularly given that the proposed new retail unit will
effectively add to an existing neighbourhood cluster.

7.4 Policy 27 of the Local Plan indicates that “individual local shops, leisure uses and
services and small neighbourhood clusters of them which meet the day-to-day
needs of nearby residents, without the need to use a car, will be protected.
Proposed new shops in such circumstances will be limited to a maximum 100sqm
(net) floor space ….”. Given that the new retail unit has a gross internal floor space
of 91.7m2 it is considered that these proposals accord with the provisions of this
Policy.

7.5 In general terms, it is considered that the provision of additional residential
development and proposals which would support the economy are welcomed and
would be acceptable on this previously-developed site. However, this is subject to
the development being compliant with other policy objectives.

Highway safety

7.6 Policy 2 of the Local Plan identifies access and vehicle generation levels as a
sustainable development consideration. A consultee (Fishtoft Parish Council) has
concerns that the proposed development will compromise safety for pedestrians
and that a pedestrian road crossing should be installed although it is not identified
where (presumably across Lindis Road).

7.7 From site visits and local knowledge it is appreciated that at times the crossroads
at which the application site is located can be busy, with vehicles waiting to turn or
to cross. There are associated markings on the road to restrict parking to ensure
the free-flow of vehicle movements. In addition, the area is well used by pedestrians
to access the existing facilities on the application site and those nearby, and there
is a formal pedestrian crossing across Eastwood Road in close proximity to the site.
It must also be recognised that there is an existing shop and residential property on
the site which have been there for many years in a variety of guises, and which
benefit from existing parking and access facilities.

Page 61



7.8 The proposed building will be located at the northern end of the site, and will in no
way curtail visibility at the junction. The proposals involve the creation of a one-way
system within the site, with vehicles entering from Lindis Road, and exiting onto
Eastwood Road – arrangements which are acceptable to the Highway Authority.
The report entitled Vehicle Parking Requirements (April 2020) which accompanies
the application forecasts that the proposals will generate 51 additional car journeys
per day, and the Highway Authority raises no concerns about adverse impacts upon
road safety.

7.9 The scale of the proposals (91.7m2 of additional retail space) is modest, and the
report entitled Vehicle Parking Requirements (April 2020) forecasts that 135
additional pedestrian movements will be generated per day. It is considered that is
a modest increase in pedestrian numbers, if considered in the context of the number
that will be generated by the far larger retail facilities approximately 75m to the east.
Furthermore, the Highway Authority has not identified any concerns about impacts
on pedestrian safety and, in all, it is considered that (notwithstanding the Parish
Council’s comment) the provision of an additional pedestrian crossing is
unnecessary and could not be justified in planning terms.

7.10 In general terms, it is considered that the site can be safely accessed and that the
proposals are unlikely to increase traffic generation to an unacceptable degree. It
is also noted that the Highway Authority does not raise an objection relating to
highway safety. In all, therefore, it is considered that the proposals will not have an
adverse impact upon highway safety and that they meet the requirements of Policy
2.

7.11 The Highway Authority asks for two conditions to be applied to any planning
permission and for two informatives to be added to the decision notice. The
suggested conditions require:

§ the closure of the existing access at the junction of Lindis Road and Eastwood
Road within seven days of the new access arrangements being brought into
use. It is considered that the effect of this suggested condition can be achieved
by means of a condition to require: the final agreement of boundary treatments;
and that boundary treatments will be retained only in accordance with the
agreed details; and

§ the reduction of any boundary treatments in the vicinity of the exit onto
Eastwood Road to no more than 0.6m in height. Given that all existing
boundary treatments have been removed (and the proposed bollards will stand
0.6m in height), it is not considered necessary for this condition to be applied.
In addition, it is also important to note that the Highway Authority seeks the
reduction in height of boundaries for 43m in each direction, which would include
land outside the application site. Such a condition would be unenforceable. As
such, this second condition is not recommended.

It is, however, considered prudent to impose a condition to require the
agreement of signage and/or markings to delineate the proposed one-way in-
and-out arrangements for the site – given that such arrangements will be vital
to the successful operation of the proposed development (Condition 4).

7.12 The suggested informatives remind the applicant that the Highway Authority’s
approval will be required for the formation of a new/amended vehicular access. It is
considered that they should both be added to the decision notice.

Page 62



Whether sufficient parking provision is proposed

7.13 Policy 36 of the Local Plan indicates that all new development should provide
vehicle and cycle parking in accordance with the minimum parking standards set
out in Appendix 6. At present, the site accommodates a one-bed flat and a shop
(convenience retail) with a gross internal floor space of 102m2, and the site provides
an estimated 7 car parking spaces adjacent to the shop’s western elevation and
significant further opportunities to the north of the buildings – this is a historic
arrangement which in general terms is understood to have been sufficient to serve
the former and current use of the site. Such provision is largely in line with the
minimum requirements of Policy 36 and Appendix 6 of the Local Plan (7 car parking
spaces and 1 cycle stand for the retail floor space, and 2 car parking spaces and 1
cycle space for the flat.

7.14 The proposal will result in the site providing a total of two shops and two flats, for
which Policy 36 and Appendix 6 of the Local Plan would require the provision of at
least 18 car parking spaces and 2 cycle parking spaces – as per the table below.

Proposal Minimum car parking
provision

Minimum cycle parking
provision

1 bed flat 2 spaces 1 space
1 bed flat 2 spaces 1 space
102m2 convenience
retail

7 spaces 0 stand

91.7m2 convenience
retail

7 spaces 0 stand

TOTAL 18 spaces 2 spaces

7.15 However, the proposal provides a total of 9 car parking spaces (2 to serve the
existing and proposed flats, and seven to serve the existing and proposed shops)
and no dedicated cycle parking spaces. This represents a significant shortfall
against the Local Plan’s minimum requirements – effectively half of the requirement.
It must however be remembered that the supporting text to policy 36 does indicate
that lower levels of provision may be acceptable, where appropriate justification is
presented.

7.16 The application is accompanied by a report entitled Vehicle Parking Requirements
(April 2020) which argues that the application site is in a sustainable location which
will attract significant numbers of journeys by means other than the private car – it
forecasts that the proposals will generate per day an additional 51 car journeys, 135
pedestrian journeys, 5 cycle journeys, and 16 journeys by public transport. The
application also makes reference to the accessibility of the site on foot, cycle and
by bus.

7.17 In addition to the provisions of policy 36, due regard should be given to paragraph
105 of the NPPF states that “local parking standards … should take into account:
the accessibility of the development, the type, mix and use of development; the
availability of and opportunities for public transport …” Officers accept that the site
is accessible by bus and that many visits will also be made on foot or by bicycle
(given that the site is in a sustainable location and that a designated cycle route
passes the site), and it is noted that the Highway Authority has expressed no
unease concerning parking provision. Consequently, it is not considered that the

Page 63



scale of the off-street parking shortfall is a cause for concern, and it is not expected
that the proposals will generate on-street parking at a level that would be
detrimental to highway safety or the amenities of the occupants of nearby
residential properties. In addition, due regard is also given to the positive impacts
arising from the efficient use of previously-developed land to provide for a modest
shop unit and additional housing unit, both of which would make modest, yet
positive contributions to the Borough. Nonetheless, it is considered necessary to
impose a condition to require the submission and approval of a detailed scheme for
the provision of the 9 parking spaces indicated (Condition 5), this is to ensure that
the spaces are provided appropriately and retained thereafter.

7.18 In all, although the proposals do not meet the full requirements of Policy 36 and
Appendix 6 of the Local Plan, it is not considered that harmful impacts are likely to
be caused.

Impact on the character of the area

7.19 Policy 2 of the Local Plan indicates that developments will be permitted which will
not have harmful impacts upon the character and appearance of the area. Policy 3
of the Local Plan indicates that design which is inappropriate to the local area or
fails to maximize opportunities for improving the character or quality of the area will
not be acceptable.

7.20 The proposed building will be set back a similar distance from the edge of Lindis
Road as the dwellings to its north, and a significant amount of undeveloped space
will remain within the application site. The building’s design and scale will be
compatible with the established character of the area. The drawings show the
detailed design of the proposed shopfront, and indicate that it will be constructed in
timber and will be painted black – the proposed design is traditional, and it is
considered that it will appear in character with the street scene. Street bollards as
proposed will satisfactorily preserve the crossroad’s existing open character.

7.21 However, the drawings do not specify all the materials that will be used in the
building’s construction; provide full details of proposed boundary treatments; and
provide any details concerning the storage of refuse bins, which are all matters of
importance in terms of the development’s impacts upon the area’s character and
appearance. It is therefore considered appropriate for conditions to be applied to
require details of the external materials (Condition 6), boundary treatments
(Condition 3), and refuse storage facilities (Condition 7) to be submitted for
approval, to ensure that they will be in keeping with the area’s character.

7.22 Subject to the above conditions, it is considered that the proposal will not have
any harmful impacts upon the area’s character or appearance, and will therefore
meet these requirements of Policies 2 and 3.

Impact on the amenities of neighbouring uses

7.23 Policies 2 and 3 of the Local Plan require neighbours’ amenities to be protected.

7.24 The proposed building will be constructed at the boundary (defined by a 2m high
close-boarded fence) with the bungalow to its north (52 Lindis Road) and within 3m
of the dwelling itself, which has a window and a glazed-door in its southern
elevation. Given that the proposed building is relatively modest in scale (3.6m high
at eaves level and 6.35m high at the ridge of its hipped-roof), it is considered that

Page 64



its impacts on 52 Lindis Road in terms of dominance, outlook or loss of
light/overshadowing will not be so severe as to be unacceptable. The proposed
building will have no windows looking north, and it is therefore considered that it will
have no harmful privacy/overlooking impacts upon 52 Lindis Road.

7.25 The proposed building will be located at the boundary (defined by a 2m high close-
boarded fence) with the property to its east (4 Eastwood Road). It will be adjacent
to the dwelling’s rear garden, and separated from the garden itself by an outbuilding
with an estimated ridge height of 3m which is located immediately to the east of the
boundary fence. It is considered that the proposed building’s relatively modest scale
will mean that it will have no unduly harmful impacts on 4 Eastwood Road in terms
of dominance, outlook or loss of light/overshadowing. However, a single dormer
window and 2 rooflights will look eastwards, which could potentially overlook the
garden with harmful impacts upon privacy. It is considered that the rooflights
(serving the flat’s bathroom and kitchen) will not provide views, given that their cills
will be approximately 1.8m above floor level. Whilst the indicated layout of the flat
would preclude harmful views from the dormer window (because the occupants of
the proposed flat would be unable to approach close to the window thanks to kitchen
worktops) such internal arrangements could be altered without the need for planning
permission. Consequently, it is considered appropriate for a condition to be applied
to require that the eastern-facing dormer window will not open and will be obscure-
glazed (Condition 8). Furthermore, a condition to remove permitted development
rights relating to new windows in the flat is considered to be necessary (Condition
9).

7.26 The proposed building will be set back approximately 9m from the site’s Lindis Road
frontage and approximately 30m from the dwelling on the opposite side of the
highway (212 Freiston Road). At this distance, it is considered that the proposal will
have no harmful impacts in terms of dominance, outlook or loss of
light/overshadowing, nor (even though two dormer windows and the shopfront will
look westwards) in terms of privacy or overlooking.

7.27 The proposed building will be located approximately 4.5m from the rear elevation of
the existing first-floor flat at 2 Eastwood Road, which has kitchen and bathroom
windows looking north. Given the relatively modest scale of the proposed building
and the degree of separation from the existing flat, it is not considered that the
proposal will have harmful impacts upon the existing flat in terms of dominance,
outlook or loss of light/ overshadowing. However, the proposed building’s southern
elevation will contain a partially-glazed door, a landing at the top of the external
staircase, and a rooflight. It is considered that the rooflight (serving the flat’s kitchen)
will not provide views, given that its cill will be approximately 1.8m above floor level.
However, the doorway/landing will be located within 5m of the flat’s bathroom
window and 5.5m of its kitchen window, and it is considered that such separations
will be inadequate to prevent unacceptable impacts upon privacy. It is therefore
considered necessary to impose a condition to require the erection of an opaque
screen of at least 1.8m height along the full width of the landing’s southern edge
(Condition 10).

7.28 The application form indicates that the use of the retail unit will be within Class A1,
i.e. that it will be used as a shop. It is considered that A1 use, at this scale, will be
compatible with neighbouring residential uses – a view which is shared by the
Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department. However, the provisions of
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended) would allow the use of the unit to be changed without the need

Page 65



for a planning application to e.g. become a restaurant or café. Such other uses may
not be equally compatible with their surroundings. Consequently, it is considered
necessary to impose a condition to remove permitted development rights so that
any change of use to another class will require a separate planning application
(Condition 11).

7.29 Lastly, the amenities of nearby existing residential properties may be affected by
the movements of the customers of the proposed shop. Although the application
form identifies that the shop unit will be in Class A1 use, it does not suggest opening
hours for the shop. It is considered that any potential harmful impacts could be
acceptably mitigated by the use of a condition to restrict opening hours (and
deliveries/despatches), as suggested by the Borough Council’s
Environmental Health Department (Condition 12).

Flood Risk

7.30 Policy 4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is not
unnecessarily exposed to flood risk, and does not increase flood risk elsewhere.

7.31 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (which was prepared
to support the first iteration of the proposals for the site). It identifies potential
sources and likely severity of flooding, and indicates (amongst other measures)
that:

§ the finished floor level of the shop will be set at 225mm above the existing ground
level;

§ flood proofing and flood resilience measures will be incorporated to at least
300mm above predicted highest water level; and

§ a flood kit will be provided.

7.32 Subject to the implementation of the measures outlined in the Flood Risk
Assessment, it is considered that the proposals meet the requirements of Policy 4.
This is a view that is shared by the Environment Agency who have asked for the
inclusion of a condition to secure these measures, and it is considered that such a
condition should be included (Condition 13).

Other Matters

7.33 Impacts upon air quality – Policy 30 of the Local Plan indicates that developments
will not be permitted which will have unacceptable adverse impacts on the health
and safety of the public or the amenities of the area by way of air quality, including
fumes. The Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department has requested
that electric vehicle recharging points and low emission gas boilers should be
provided. However, the Environmental Health Department identifies that the
proposal will not have a significant impact on air quality within the area and, in these
circumstances, it is considered that the proposals meet Policy 30’s requirements
even without the mitigation measures sought - i.e. the proposals will not have
“unacceptable adverse impacts on the health and safety of the public or the
amenities of the area by way of air quality, including fumes”. Therefore the request
for EV charging facilities and use of specific boilers cannot be justified in this
instance.

Page 66



7.34 Water use - Policy 31 of the Local Plan requires, inter alia, residential proposals to
protect the quality, quantity and availability of water resources by complying with
the Building Regulation water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day.
It is considered appropriate for a condition to be included to ensure that these
requirements are met (Condition 14).

8.0 Summary and Conclusion

8.1 The proposal would result in the efficient use of previously-developed land, within
the settlement boundary, to provide for an additional shop unit and an additional
residential flat. They would therefore make positive contributions to the economy
and housing supply in the Borough.

8.2 The proposals would be acceptable in relation to highway safety, impact on the
character of the area, impact on amenity, flood risk, and other matters.

8.3 Whilst it is accepted that the level of parking provision proposed would be below
the full requirements of policy 36 and Appendix 6, the level of parking proposed has
been justified and in this case, a lower level of parking provision is acceptable.

8.4 When taken as a whole, it is considered that the proposals are in accordance with
the requirements of the Development Plan, and thus, should be granted permission
subject to the conditions as recommended.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to GRANT planning permission
subject to the following conditions.

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
revised application received 09-Apr-2020 and in accordance with the associated
plans referenced:

§ Drawing Number B/3355 3-001 – Proposed – Elevations and Plans (March
2020);

§ Drawing Number: B/3355 3-002 – Proposed – Elevations in
context/Section AA (March 2020)

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies
2, 3, 4, 27, 30 and 36 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of all
boundary treatments, including their height, design, colour and position, have been

Page 67



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
as may be approved shall be constructed before the building hereby permitted is
occupied or brought into use, and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and highway safety in
accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

4. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan showing
signage and/or markings to delineate the proposed one-way in-and-out
arrangements for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The signage and/or markings as may be approved shall
be implemented before the building hereby permitted is occupied or brought into
use, and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy 2 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan showing 9no.
parking spaces (labelled to reflect their allocation to the flats and shops) along with
sufficient space to allow vehicles to be parked and turned to enable vehicles to
enter and exit in forward gear, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The parking spaces and turning area shall be provided in
accordance with the agreed plan prior to the occupation or first use of any of the
units, and shall thereafter be retained and be made available for use by the
occupants, staff and customers of the development at all times when those units
are available for occupation.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring that sufficient parking is provided to meet the
needs of the development, to ensure that those parking spaces are retained and
are available and that there is sufficient space to enable vehicles to turn so that
they may enter and leave the site in forward gear, and to comply with Policy 36 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

6. No development shall take place until details of the materials proposed to be used
in the construction of the external surfaces of the building have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the new building is in keeping with the character of the
area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
2011-2036.

7. The development permitted shall not be occupied until details of secure refuse
storage facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details before the building hereby permitted is occupied or brought into
use, and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the character of the
area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
2011-2036.

8. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to first use of the
apartment hereby permitted, the dormer window shown on the east facing elevation

Page 68



of the building hereby approved shall be obscurely glazed to a minimum of level 3
on the Pilkington Scale (where 1 is the lowest and 5 the greatest level of obscurity)
or equivalent scale, and shall be non-opening unless the parts of the window which
can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the room in which
the window is installed. The duly installed window shall be retained as such
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit the potential
for overlooking between the development and adjacent properties in order to
preserve the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with the requirements of
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, or any
equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment thereof (with or without
modification), no windows other than those expressly authorised by this permission
shall be inserted in any of the sides of the building hereby approved.

Reason: To limit the potential for overlooking towards neighbouring dwellings in
order to safeguard the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with the
requirements of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036).

10. The residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of an
opaque screen of not less than 1.8m in height from the finished floor level of the
landing at the top of the external staircase, shall be submitted to and agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The screen shall run the full width of the
southern edge of the landing. The residential unit shall not be occupied until the
screen has been constructed in full accordance with the agreed details. The screen
shall thereafter be retained at all times when the residential unit is available for
use.

Reason: In the interests of the mitigation of any effects on the amenities of the first-
floor flat at 2 Eastwood Road, by virtue of overlooking and noise/disturbance, and
to comply with Poicies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036.

11. The shop premises shall be occupied only by uses within class A1 of the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 and for no other purpose, including
any permitted change of use within the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting either or both of the Orders with or without modification).

Reason: To protect neighbours’ amenities and the amenity of the area, and to
accord with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036.

12. The shop premises shall not be open to the public outside the hours of 07.00 to
22.00 on any day, and no deliveries to (or despatches from) the premises shall take
place outside of the aforementioned hours.

Reason: In the interests of regulating noise and disturbance, to protect the amenity
of the area, and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan 2011-2036.

Page 69



13. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared by Dowlman
Architecture, dated August 2019 and the following mitigation measures detailed
within the FRA: the FFL to be set at 225mm above ground level; residential
accommodation to first floor level only; and flood resilience and resistance
measures to be incorporated as stated in the FRA. The mitigation measures shall
be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently remain in place.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants, and to accord with the requirements of Policy 4 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.

14. The water consumption of the dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement
in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan 2011-2036). The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control
Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the requirement for the water
consumption has been met shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and
Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after the completion of the dwelling.

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

Informatives

1. The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular
access. These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in
accordance with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed
in accordance with the Authority’s specification that is current at the time of
construction. Relocation of existing apparatus, underground services or street
furniture will be the responsibility of the applicant, prior to application. For approval
and specification details, please contact
vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team
on 01522 782072 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any
other works which will be required within the public highway in association with the
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 70

mailto:vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Additional Information Report  

This report sets out additional information in relation to planning applications for consideration 

at the Planning Committee on 28 July 2020 that was received after the Agenda was published. 

 

B/19/0520 

Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, Hubberts Bridge, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE20 3SG 

------------------------------------------ 

Additional letters of objection: 

3 additional letters of objections have been received, presented by Robert Doughty 

Consultancy on behalf objectors. These letters are very similar in main content, but also raise 

issues specific to each objector. The letters raise issues in relation to: 

 Traffic and Highway matters 

 Flood Risk 

 Permanent Residential use 

 Sustainability 

 Residential Amenity 

 Impact on neighbouring uses – boundary treatments & impact on farming operations 

 Land drainage 

Officer comments in relation to the additional objections: 

Traffic/Highway matters -  

The LCC Highway Officer who commented on the application was asked to respond to the 

highway/traffic comments contained in the further objection(s) received. In summary, they 

have advised: 

 The TA uses the most relevant information available in TRICS for estimating trip rates 

to a caravan park. The TRICS data is the best available data.  

 Whilst Mr Doughty's letter says that the chosen sites are not comparable, he does not 

say what he considers the appropriate trip rates should be nor does he provide any 

evidence to support his assertions regarding the traffic movements.  

 The trip rate report has been re-run in TRICS using data from the last 20 years and 

the results show lower trip rates than those used in the TA. 

 The trip rate associated with permanent occupancy would be likely to be much higher 

than holiday accommodation.  However, this use is not being applied for under this 

application and planning enforcement will presumably be able to ensure the site is only 

occupied as holiday accommodation. 

It is considered that this response supports the conclusions of the report, and Officers have 

no further comments to make. 

Flood Risk –  

It is accepted that the language in the report is incorrect. This should sentence can be 

corrected as follows: 

“FRA includes reference to the need for a Sequential and Exceptions Test, these are covered 

by other documents provided with the application.” 

Page 71

Agenda Item 3



It is accepted that only a limited exercise has been undertaken in relation to both the 

Sequential and Exceptions Tests within the documents submitted with the application.  

Officers have considered the proposals in light of the requirements of policy 4, including the 

principles pertaining to Sequential and Exceptions tests. The proposals are to support an 

existing leisure site, and this matter is covered under paragraphs 7.8 and 7.65 of the published 

report. Officers raise no objections to the approach taken within the application submission. 

Officers remain of the view that the proposals are acceptable in this regard and the 

conclusions of the section on Flood Risk remains unchanged. 

Permanent Residential Development 

This is dealt with in detail within the report. The proposals are for holiday accommodation as 

described and would be conditioned as such. Any breaches of the conditions identified would 

be investigated by Planning Enforcement should they occur. 

It must also be remembered that there are currently facilities on site, including a bar/restaurant, 

and driving range, all of which could be accessed by people using the caravans, hence the 

‘hub’ would supplement these facilities. It should also be remembered that there is currently a 

hotel on site, and also there are other examples of holiday accommodation within the 

immediate locality, therefore the broad principle of holiday accommodation in this area has 

been previously accepted.  

Sustainability and economic benefit 

It is considered that this is sufficiently dealt with in the main report. The Councils Economic 

Development Manager has reviewed the application and is supportive of the proposals, and it 

is considered that the report is informed by a sound methodology and no independent testing 

is required. In any event, even if the figures quoted are not achieved in full, there would still 

be a significant positive economic effect. It is considered for both points, these are matters of 

planning judgement for the decision-maker. 

Residential Amenity 

It is considered that this is sufficiently dealt with in the main report, and no further comments 

are required. 

Impact on neighbouring uses – boundary treatments & impact on farming operations 

Officers are of the view that the details presented are acceptable, the reference to ‘rabbit proof 

fencing’ and ‘stock fencing’ are common terms, and it would be possible to erect a boundary 

up to 2m in height without the need for planning permission, therefore further details are not 

necessary. Further, this must be considered in the context of the existing boundaries which 

are established and comprise significant vegetation which already present a clear visual and 

physical barrier. The proposals are to supplement the existing arrangements.  

Officers consider it is unlikely that users of the site would be encouraged to transgress on to 

neighbouring land, and in any event, any level of transgression would be unlikely to be so 

significant that it could not be managed by the site operator and neighbouring landowner in 

order to ensure that it does not become problem to the adjacent operations. 

Land Drainage 

It is considered that this matter has been sufficiently dealt with, the approach to drainage is 

considered appropriate to the statutory consultees, and would also be dealt with by way of 

conditions proposed. It is considered that there are existing drainage arrangements serving 

Page 72



the golf course, and there is ample space within the site to ensure that drainage and surface 

water in particular are dealt with in a sustainable way. Equally, the use of SUDs features for 

other activities and benefits is a recognised approach.  

------------------------------------------ 

Additional letter of comment: 

An email has been received from a Mr M Nundy, it identifies that they are a member of the 

management committee at Hubberts Bridge Community Centre. They provide comments in 

relation to the main foul drainage arrangements which cross land belonging to the community 

centre. They advise that these arrangements have not been agreed, and they have a number 

of concerns and questions which would need to be addressed before they could consider 

agreeing to their intention. They understand the intentions of the applicants and that a request 

may be made, but they are not aware of any reason whereby they would not require our 

permission to proceed as they intend. 

Officer response 

The revised drainage proposals show foul drainage being connected to the mains sewer 

system, this has been discussed with Anglian Water.  

In this case, the Council has been informed by Anglian Water that subject to a feasible 

drainage strategy being developed and agreed by them, along with details of connection 

points, locations, and agreements being in place for any necessary infrastructure, they have 

no objections. 

The development would need the agreement of Anglian Water to connect to the public network 

and this would be managed under the Water Industry Act 1991. Any private agreements 

regarding the ability to connect to the drainage system would be outside of the planning 

decision, and would fall to the statutory undertaker (Anglian Water) and could involve civil 

agreements between parties.  

Officers have no further comments to add, and the conclusions and recommended conditions 

remain unchanged. 

------------------------------------------ 

Additional correspondence on behalf of the Applicant: 

2 letters have been received from the Agent on behalf of the Applicant. The first addresses 

the content of the Report to the Planning Committee, and the second seeks to respond to the 

comments provided by objections received post publication of the report. 

Officer response 

The letter in response to the content of the Report seeks to reinforce the findings of that report, 

and in particular the lack of objection from technical consultees. Officers note that: 

 The letter references the economic effects of Covid-19, and how the proposals can 

support economic recovery and job creation. 

 The letter reinforces the policy compliant nature of the scheme, and that the proposals 

accord with the aims of the NPPF, and that proposals which accord with an up-to-date 

development plan should be approved without delay. 

Officers have no further comment to make on this letter. 

Page 73



The second letter seeks to respond directly to the additional letters of objection received post 

publication of the report. This letter highlights the following points: 

 Further detail is given in respect of the Sequential and Exceptions Tests approach for 

this development, with due regard to the nature of the proposals and the characteristics 

of flooding in Boston. It concludes that a sequentially preferable location for the 

development is unlikely. 

 The Agent disagrees with the assertions made in respect of the economic case, 

indicating that owner-occupied caravans can have higher levels of occupancy, and 

therefore it does not follow that average spend from these units would be lower. They 

also indicate domestic tourism growth is likely to occur as a result of Covid-19 and this 

scheme would enable Boston to capture some of this growth. 

 The owners remain committed to delivering the site as a holiday destination, with 

proposals for the hub likely to come forward for Reserved Matters within a period of 

3months from any grant of approval for the outline. 

 The site would be a managed environment and holidaymakers would be encouraged 

to follow the site rules, and thus any matters relating to trespass can be appropriately 

managed, as can any issues of noise or disturbance. 

Officers have no further comment to make on this letter. 

------------------------------------------ 

 

Additional information from Officers: 

In addition, Members attention is also drawn a Written Ministerial Statement issued by MHCLG 

on the 14th July 2020 – which is available here.  

This statement relates to the tourism industry as a result of covid-19 and relates to caravan, 

campsites and holiday parks. It emphasises the importance of the tourism industry and its 

need to adapt to secure its financial future. It identifies that “These parks are a mainstay of 

their local economies, providing employment and supporting local services and businesses.” 

The statement goes on to support flexibility being applied in respect of restrictions and 

planning enforcement, particularly where such restrictions would restrict the ability to operate 

an extended season, specifically noting the “…benefits of longer opening season times to the 

local economy as it recovers from the impact of Covid-19”. 

This is a material planning consideration, and clearly the emphasis is that holiday parks (such 

as the one proposed) can play an important role to supporting tourism and the local economy. 

It also highlights the desire from Government to support an extended tourism season, 

particularly in light of Covid-19. This in Officers view, provides additional support to the findings 

and recommendation of the report. 

 

Page 74

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statements/?page=1&max=20&questiontype=AllQuestions&house=commons%2Clords&keywords=holiday


Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank 

Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank 

Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



From: Mark Nundy <markyveg@gmail.com> 
Sent: 27 July 2020 10:18 
To: Mike Gildersleeves <Mike.Gildersleeves@boston.gov.uk> 
Subject: Boston West Planning application 
 
Good morning Mike 
I note you are the case officer for the above application to be considered tomorrow. 
I am a member of the management committee at Hubberts Bridge Community Centre. 
We understand the application proposes to join the main foul drainage through the land belonging 
to the community centre. 
We have received a letter from the applicant stating their intentions but we have not had any 
discussions with them nor agreed to this and we have a number of concerns and questions which 
would need to be addressed before we could consider agreeing to their intention. 
This has been presented by the applicant as an intention rather than a request but we are not aware 
of any reason whereby they would not require our permission to proceed as they intend. 
We have only just see the plans on the council website and are concerned it has progressed to this 
stage without this fundamental point being agreed. 
I understand that the decision regarding planning maybe in principal to the development proposals 
and not necessarily the details behind this but we wished to bring this matter to your attention to be 
raised prior to committee tomorrow. 
Regards Mark Nundy 
 

Page 93

mailto:markyveg@gmail.com
mailto:Mike.Gildersleeves@boston.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank 

Page 94



 
 

Pegasus Group 
Pavilion Court | Green Lane | Garforth | Leeds | LS25 2AF 

T 0113 287 8200 | www.pegasusgroup.co.uk | @pegasusgroup 

Birmingham | Bracknell | Bristol | Cambridge | Cirencester | East Midlands | Leeds | Liverpool | London | Manchester | Newcastle | Peterborough 

 
Pegasus Group is a trading name of Pegasus Planning Group Limited [07277000] registered in England and Wales 
Registered Office: Pegasus House, Querns Business Centre, Whitworth Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1RT 

Page | 1 

006.BG/P19-2767 

 

Planning Services 

Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings 

West Street 

Boston 

PE21 8QR 

 

VIA EMAIL ONLY 

 

27th July 2020 

 

Dear Mr Gildersleeves, 

 

Re:  Planning Application Ref. B/19/0520 | Hybrid planning application seeking full 

planning permission for the part change of use of the golf course for the siting of 

caravans and outline planning permission for the development of a “hub” building 

containing an ancillary reception/ activity centre/ spa (Use Class D2)/ retail unit 

(up to 100sqm)/ food and beverage (Use Classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities 

management and ancillary works | Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, 

Hubbert’s Bridge, Boston, PE20 3QX. 

 

This letter is written on behalf of the applicant; Boston West Leisure Limited, in support of planning 

application ref. B/19/0520, a hybrid planning application which seeks full and outline planning 

permission, respectively, for  the part-change of use of the golf course for the siting of up to 300 

caravans and the development of a ‘hub’ building containing an ancillary reception, activity centre, 

spa, retail unit, food and beverage facilities, management facilities, and ancillary works, at Boston 

West Golf Course. 

 

The applicant is pleased to see this application has been recommended for approval subject to 

the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement, with no outstanding objections from 

technical consultees. The Officer’s Committee Report assesses all the necessary matters, provides 

Page 95



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 2 

an accurate and balanced analysis of the development hereby proposed, and concludes that the 

development would would be in accordance with the adopted development plan when taken as a 

whole. Paragraph 11c of The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 is clear in that development 

proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay.  

 

The application site comprises the existing Boston West Golf Course; an 18-hole golf course with 

a 20-bay driving range, a 6-hole academy course, a 24-room hotel and clubhouse, and a 

restaurant, bar and reception area. Over the last 3 – 5 years, the golf course has unfortunately 

experienced a steady decrease in its membership base. The golf course have fought to reverse 

this decline in membership over the last 3 – 5 years by reducing membership fees, running active 

promotions on social media and running a variety of playing incentives, however has failed to 

retain members, and consequently, the economic viability of the golf course is now threatened. 

 

The applicants vision for the site is to deliver a high-quality holiday destination comprised of lodge-

style caravans which would be sensitively integrated into the setting and landscape of the existing 

golf course; creating a unique woodland character to the holiday destination. The holiday 

destination would be supported by the remaining on-site golf facilities, as well as other on-site 

facilities provided within the ‘hub’ building. Though the ‘hub’ building is in outline form currently, 

there is potential for this building to include such uses as an ancillary reception, activity centre, 

spa, retail unit, food and beverage facilities, and management facilities. Additionally, the holiday 

destination would be accessible to nearby facilities and attractions in Boston town and South-East 

Lincolnshire. 

 

Importantly, the applicant’s vision for the site does not have any unacceptable impact to the 

provision of golf facilities at the site, nor does it unacceptably compromise the provision of golf 

facilities in the wider South-East Lincolnshire area; Sport England and England Golf have been 

consulted in respect of the development hereby proposed and are supportive of the project on the 

basis that it aims to reinvigorate the golf facility as the remaining 9-hole facility would a more 

viable and attractive golf facility given its short format.  

 

The applicant’s unique vision for the site enables the diversification of the existing Boston West 

Golf Course and would help boost its economic performance and secure its long-term viability and 

vitality. Additionally, the proposed holiday destination would boost the tourism sector in Boston 

and South-East Lincolnshire with a unique offer for holidaymakers, and would provide the area 

with substantial socio-economic benefits which include:  

Page 96



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 3 

 

• Visitor Spend – The proposed development is assumed to generate £4.4 million per 

annum, based on the average total direct spend associated with visitors staying in the 

caravans throughout the year. 

 

• Economic Output – Taking visitor spend as a proxy for turnover, it is possible to convert 

the visitor spend estimates into a gross value added (GVA) contribution, which is often 

used as a measure for economic output. Figures published by ONS as part of the Annual 

Business Survey show that GVA in the accommodation & food services sector (the sector 

which most closely aligns with the Holiday Park) accounts for around 52.7% of turnover. 

Applying this to the spend figure of £4.4million, GVA is estimated at around £2.3million 

per annum. 

 

• Supporting Permanent Employment – According to a Deloitte and Oxford Economics 

Report from November 2013 on the tourism sector, the annual visitor spend required to 

support a new tourist job is £54,000. As this report was published in 2013, the Bank of 

England’s GDP Inflation Calculator has been used to calculate a more up to date estimate 

of £60,800, which is at 2018 prices. Dividing this into the £4.4million estimated direct 

visitor spend currently associated with the site gives a figure of 72 full-time equivalent 

(FTE) roles in the tourism sector. 

 

It is important to note that the Economic Benefits Report was prepared before the Covid-19 

pandemic. The pandemic is anticipated to result in significant economic instability, and so it is 

increasingly important to consider the benefits of the proposed development in terms of overall 

spend and the number of jobs supported given that between March and June 2020, the number 

of people in Boston claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance, or who claim Universal Credit and are required 

to seek work has more than doubled from 1,225 to 2,595. 

 

As a consequence of Covid-19, the labour market is expected to be extremely challenging for a 

long period of time and so it is essential that schemes which would help support new job 

opportunities, like the development hereby proposed, are strongly supported. This is particularly 

the case with regard to the development proposal given that domestic tourism is expected to see 

significant growth as a result of the pandemic; the development would therefore enable Boston 

Borough and South-East Lincolnshire to be in a stonger position to capture this anticipated growth 

of the domestic tourism market.  

Page 97



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 4 

The proposed development would deliver substantial economic benefits and therefore achieves 

the economic objective of the planning system, which is one of three objectives which contribute 

towards achieving sustainable development as per Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2019; the other objectives being social and environmental objectives. 

 

Achieving the Social Dimension of Sustainable Development 

 

The development hereby proposed would achieve the social objective of sustainable development 

through the delivery of high-quality and unique tourism development in Boston and South-East 

Lincolnshire. The holiday destination would see up to 300 lodges located within a woodland 

setting, served by a range of on-site facilities including the remaining 9-hole golf course and its 

associated clubhouse which includes bar and restaurant facilities, and a ‘hub’ building which could 

include activity centre, spa, retail unit, food and beverage facilities, and would be accessible to 

Boston town and other surrounding areas. The proposed holiday destination represents a unique 

and exceptional form of tourism develoment which would provide increased opportunities for 

holidaying in Boston and South-East Lincolnshire. Additionally, the development would provide 

further employment opportunities for local residents.  

 

Furthermore, the development would secure the long-term vitality and viability of the Boston West 

Golf Course and would reinvigorate the facility from a golf perspective. The development would 

therefore ensure the golf course does not become unviable and would help to prevent its closure 

and ensure Boston and South-East Lincolnshire is not lost of a golf facility or the jobs associated 

with the existing golf facility.  

 

Additionally, it has been demonstrated development has been demonstrated to be successfully 

accommodated at the application site with no unacceptable impacts to the amenity of 

neighbouring occupiers. Appropriately, Environmental Health Officers have raised no objections 

to the proposal, though have suggested conditions are imposed on the planning permission in 

respect of noise and hours of operation. Importantly, the applicant; as the manager of the holiday 

destination, has a duty of care to manage the site in an appropriate way to unsure there are no 

unacceptable amenity impacts for existing surrounding occupiers or the occupiers of the holiday 

destination.  

 

Significantly, during the course of the planning application process, the application attracted 73 

letters of support with only 6 objections to the proposals received which illustrates there is 

Page 98



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 5 

substantial public support for the development. Members of the public consider the development 

hereby proposed to be a significant opportunity and boost for Boston and local businesses and 

residents as a result of the tourism which would be generated and the jobs that would be 

supported by bringing this declining site into a viable and positive use. The public consider the 

proposal would be a benefit to the wider area and would have no adverse impact to Boston town 

or the surrounding area, traffic, the countryside or wildlife. The considerable amount of public 

support for the development should be afforded significant weight in the determination of the 

planning application. 

 

Overall, the development hereby proposed would deliver significant social benefits which would 

achieve the social dimension of sustainable development, in accordance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework 2019. 

 

Achieving the Environmental Dimension of Sustainable Development 

 

The proposed development has been demonstrated to avoid any unacceptable environmental 

impacts and achieve the environmental objective of sustainable development. 

 

Firstly, in regards to landscape and ecology matters, the vision for the proposed development 

would see the lodges integrated sensitively into the existing setting and landscape of the golf 

course which would minimise the developments environmental impact. The proposed lodges would 

be positioned on the fairways of the golf course which are regularly landcaped and therefore have 

a low ecological value, and have been positioned away from the woodland areas which have a 

higher ecological value. As a consequence of the lodges being located on the fairways, the 

woodland areas would act as a visual buffer to each ‘parcel’ of lodges and would minimise the 

landscape visual impacts of the development. Additionally, the application is supported by an 

indiciative landscaping scheme which seeks to provides substantial landscaping throughout the 

development and enhance existing landscaping. Full landscaping details are to be secured via 

planning condition and it is considered the landscaping scheme would not only secure landscape 

and visual benefits by minimising the visual impact of the development to the surounding area to 

a further extent, but would also have substantial benefits for ecology and biodiversity through 

securing a substantial net gain in biodiversity. 

 

Further to this, the proposed development would have no unacceptable heritage impact. Although 

at odds with the applicants conclusions, the Council have asserted the development proposal 

Page 99



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 6 

would result in less than substantial harm, at the lower end of the scale, to the significance of 

non-designated heritage assets in the wider surrounding area. Appropriately, the Council have 

weighed the substantial public benefits of the proposal against the alleged harm and consider the 

identified public benefits to outweigh any harm to non-designated heritage assets. 

 

Additionally, the proposed development would have no unacceptable impacts to the surrounding 

highway network and is fully supported by the local highway authority; subject to the provision 

of a financial contribution to support the ‘CallConnect bus service’ which seeks to encourage 

holidaymakers to use sustainable transport options from the site to wider surrounding areas, 

including Boston Town Centre. 

 

Furthermore, the proposed development would not be at any unacceptable risk from flooding and 

has been demonstrated to be safe, that is can be suitably drained, that it would not increase flood 

risk elsewhere, and that there are no sequentially preferable locations for the development as a 

consequence of the site-specifc intricacies which mean the development proposal can only be 

accommodated at the application site. The proposal is supported by the relevant drainage 

authorities and the Environment Agency in this regard. 

 

Overall, the proposed development would have no unacceptable environmental impacts and would 

secure substantial environmental and ecological benefits through any landscaping scheme which 

is presented to the local planning authority to satisfy the conditional requirements of the planning 

permission. Accordingly, the proposed development would achieve the environmental dimension 

of sustainable development as per paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Paragraph 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that the purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. To contribute towards 

achieving sustainable development, paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

requires the planning system to have three overarching [economic, social and environmental] 

objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways; 

although there is no requirement to fulfil all three objectives to equal extents, and net gains in 

one or two objectives can outweigh adverse impacts in others. 

 

Page 100



 
 

006.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 7 

The proposed development has been demonstrated to secure substantial economic, social and 

environmental benefits which weigh significantly in favour of approving this scheme when the 

development is considered against the National Planning Policy Framework, and the South-East 

Lincolnshire Local Plan as a whole. The applicant is pleased to see the local planning authority and 

technical consultees are supportive of the development hereby proposed and have identifed that 

the benefits of granting permission for the development would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh any adverse impacts of granting planning permission. Appropriately, the development 

proposal is in accordance with the adopted development plan and should be approved without 

delay as per paragraph 11c of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

 

We trust that Members will support the Officer’s recommendation for approval of this policy-

compliant scheme.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

BEN GIBSON 

Planner 

Ben.Gibson@pegasusgroup.co.uk  

 

Page 101

mailto:Ben.Gibson@pegasusgroup.co.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank 

Page 102



Birmingham | Bracknell | Bristol | Cambridge | Cirencester | East Midlands | Leeds | Liverpool | London | Manchester | Newcastle | Peterborough 

Pegasus Group is a trading name of Pegasus Planning Group Limited [07277000] registered in England and Wales 
Registered Office: Pegasus House, Querns Business Centre, Whitworth Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1RT 

Page | 1 

005.BG/P19-2767

Planning Services 

Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings 

West Street 

Boston 

PE21 8QR 

VIA EMAIL ONLY 

27th July 2020 

Dear Mr Gildersleeves, 

Re:  Planning Application Ref. B/19/0520 | Hybrid planning application seeking full 

planning permission for the part change of use of the golf course for the siting of 

caravans and outline planning permission for the development of a “hub” building 

containing an ancillary reception/ activity centre/ spa (Use Class D2)/ retail unit 

(up to 100sqm)/ food and beverage (Use Classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities 

management and ancillary works | Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, 

Hubbert’s Bridge, Boston, PE20 3QX. 

This letter is written on behalf of the applicant; Boston West Leisure Limited, in support of planning 

application ref. B/19/0520. The applicant is pleased this application is being presented at Planning 

Committee on the 28th July 2020 and has been recommended for approval subject to the 

completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement, with no outstanding objections from technical 

consultees.  

The applicant notes that three letters of objection, written on behalf of J. & R. Emerson, Premier 

Composites Limited and Mr Ladds; adjacent landowners, have been received following the 

publishing of the Officer’s Report. These objections raise concerns regarding:  

Pegasus Group
Pavilion Court | Green Lane | Garforth | Leeds | LS25 2AF 
T 0113 287 8200 | www.pegasusgroup.co.uk | @pegasusgroup 

Page 103



005.BG/P19-2767

Page | 2 

• Sequential and exceptions tests;

• Surface water drainage;

• Transport;

• Economic benefits;

• Permanent residential development;

• Boundary treatments; and,

• Amenity.

This letter seeks to address the assertions made by objectors to provide clarity on these matters 

for the benefit of the local planning authority, members and any other interested parties. 

Sequential / Exceptions Test 

Objectors make an assertion that the sequential and exceptions test has not been satisfied; 

though no substantive evidence is provided to support the claim. A sequential test is provided 

within the Planning Statement, which also contains the requisite details to satisfy the exceptions 

test. The Local Planning Authority have agreed the findings of these and are content the two tests 

have been satisfied, in accordance with Policy 4 of the SELLP.  

Naturally, as a result of the unique vision for the site and the development hereby proposed, the 

development has a specific locational requirement which is met by the application site and cannot 

be met in any other location.  

Firstly and as discussed previously, the aim and objective of the development hereby proposed is 

to diversify the uses of Boston West Golf Course to provide necessary economic support to an 

existing leisure site which has its commercial viability threatened by a declining membership base 

which has not been reversed despite plentiful efforts to incentivise increased membership. The 

proposed development therefore acts as a prerequisite for the golf course as a consequence of 

the golf courses reliance on the capital which would be generated from the proposed development. 

Additionally, the vision for the holiday destination would see lodges nestled into the established 

woodland setting of the golf course and so the vision for the development hereby proposed is 

reliant on the established setting and landscape of the golf course. 

Page 104



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 3 

As such, the existing golf course and the proposed development have an interdependent 

relationship. Importantly, it is a well-established through case-law that a proposal cannot be 

disaggregated into its component parts to satisfy the sequential test. The Cribbs Causeway 

Development appeal decision (Appeal Ref. APP/P0119/V/17/3170627) provides assistance on how 

the sequential test should be applied mirroring the findings of the Dundee case. While this appeal 

decision relates to the retail sequential test, the principles remain applicable. Within Paragraph 

567 of the decision, the Inspector discusses the matter of disaggregation: 

 

“567. There was debate at the inquiry about whether proposals should be split into different 

parts so that they can be accommodated on several town centre sites. Whereas past retail 

policy and guidance has adopted a disaggregation approach this is not embodied in either 

the Framework or the PG as was confirmed by the Court of Appeal in Warners Retail. The 

Secretary of State reached a similar conclusion in his decisions on Rushden Lakes, Scotch 

Corner and Honiton Road”. 

 

Accordingly, there is no requirement for the development hereby proposal to be disaggregated, 

and so due to the interdependent relationship between the existing golf course and the 

development hereby proposed, the development as a whole comprises the proposed holiday park 

and ‘hub’ building, as well as the remaining 9-hole golf course, and its existing associated 

infrastructure, ancillary clubhouse and hotel. Therefore, for any location to be considered 

sequentially preferable, it would be required to accommodate all these elements. 

 

Significantly, the Environment Agency’s Flood Map illustrates that the Borough of Boston is located 

almost entirely in Flood Zone 3. While it is accepted there is variation in the flood hazard from 

‘Danger to Most’ to ‘Danger to All’, and there are areas where the probability of flooding is lower 

than others, the majority of Boston is in the same flood-risk category, therefore it is considered 

there would be no sequentially preferable location in this respect. This is particularly so when the 

site-specific intricacies are taken into account which means a location could only be considered to 

be sequentially preferable if the development as a whole, which includes the proposed holiday 

park and ‘hub’ building, as well as the remaining golf course, its associated infrastructure, ancillary 

clubhouse and hotel, could be accomodated on a site in Boston Borough which is not located within 

Flood Zone 3. 

 

As a result of the interdependent relationship between the proposed development and the existing 

use of the site, the proposed development is required to be located at the application site. 

Page 105



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 4 

Additionally, given that Boston Borough is located almost entirely, within Flood Zone 3, there are 

no sequentially preferable locations in flood risk terms; particularly any which could suitably 

accommodate the development hereby proposed. It is considered the sequential test has 

unequivocally been satisfied. The conclusions of the sequential test are agreed by the Council as 

per paragraph 7.65 of the Officer’s Report, and the proposed therefore accords with Policy 4 of 

the SELLP. 

 

Notwithstanding this, and in the event members disagree with the applicants conclusions, as per 

paragraph 7.65 of the Officer’s Report, ‘there are a number of factors including the economic 

benefits arising which would outweigh any perceived lack of compliance’ with Policy 4 and the 

sequential test in question. 

 

In regards to the exceptions test, the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 requires the 

development to provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweight the flood 

risk, and requires the development to be safe from flood risk for its lifetime, without increasing 

flood risk elsewhere. 

 

In satisfying the first requirement of the Exception Test, the development has been demonstrated 

to provide substantial sustainability benefits. The sustainability benefits of the proposal have been 

demonstrated earlier within this letter which concludes the development would secure substantial 

net gains across the social, economic and environmental dimensions of sustainable development 

and would satisfy the exceptions test. 

 

To satisfy the second requirement of the exceptions test, the development has been demonstrated 

to be safe from flood risk. The planning application is supported by a flood risk and drainage 

assessment which details how flood risk would be managed on the site. In addition to this, the 

Council have imposed several conditions to the planning permission which seek to control the 

flood risk and drainage impacts of the proposal, these include a condition requiring the preparation 

of a flood warning and evacuation plan. It is important to note that there are no outstanding 

objections from technical consultees from a flood risk and drainage perspective and so the Council 

are satisfied the development would be safe from flood risk, thereby passing part two of the 

exceptions test. 

 

 

 

Page 106



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 5 

Surface Water Drainage 

 

It is noted the objection which has been submitted on behalf of J. & R. Emerson Limited raises 

concerns regarding drainage. It is important to note that the application has no outstanding 

objections from the appropriate drainage authorities or the Environment Agency, and appropriate 

conditions have been suggested to be imposed on the planning permission to ensure a detailed 

drainage scheme is submitted for the approval of the local planning authority. 

 

Transport 

 

Objectors have questioned the reliability of the data used within the submitted Transport 

Statement. 

 

The Transport Statement was informed through a preliminary pre-application meeting with 

Lincolnshire County Council Highways. During this meeting, the proposed development was 

presented to the highways authority, and a methodology of assessing its transport impacts specific 

to the application site were considered and agreed between all parties. The Transport Statement 

was completed as per the agreed methodology and the development has received the full support 

of the local highways authority. 

 

It is important to recognise that Highway Officers; who are technical highway engineers, have 

assessed the junction in respect of the proposed development and are satisfied there would be no 

unacceptable highways impacts arising from the proposed development. Accordingly, local 

residents should not hold concerns in this regard. 

 

Economic Benefits 

 

Objectors make an assertion that the economic benefit figure is overstated because it looks at 

average spend associated with caravans that are rented, (£101 per day), as opposed to caravans 

that are owned (£89 per day). The proposed scheme will provide a mix of owned and rented 

caravans, however the exact split is unknown at the current time.  

 

Average occupancy rates also fed into the original analysis, sourced from research published by 

the UK Caravan & Camping Alliance in February 2019.  These average rates relate to all holiday 

parks and campsites (i.e. they include owned and rented caravans). It seems reasonable to 

Page 107



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 6 

assume that caravans which are owned will have higher occupancy rates in a typical calendar year 

than those that are rented. As such, if analysis was carried out to assess the impact of adjusting 

average spend to reflect a certain split of rented vs owned caravans, it is unlikely to make a 

significant difference to the overall spend figure – while people who own caravans might spend 

less per trip, they may well be making more trips per year and this will balance out any spend 

differentials. 

 

The representation goes on to say that a significantly lower spend per day of £19 should be used 

to calculate the economic benefits of the scheme, defining this figure as “the actual spend off the 

caravan site into the local economy”. However, the representation misses the point here as the 

purpose of the economic benefits report was to quantify the total impact of the scheme and to 

quantify all spending associated with the caravans. The £4.4million annual spend figure therefore 

reflects this. To simply focus on off-site food & drink spend (which is included in the suggested 

£19 figure) would significantly underestimate the benefits created by the scheme for the wider 

tourism sector.  

 

Assessing the total impact of the scheme in terms of overall spend and the number of jobs 

supported has become even more important during the Covid-19 pandemic, given that between 

March 2020 and June 2020 the number of people in Boston claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance or 

who claim Universal Credit and are required to seek work has more than doubled from 1,225 to 

2,595. The labour market is likely to be extremely challenging for some time to come and schemes 

that can help support new job opportunities will become even more important. Domestic tourism 

is also likely to see growth because of the pandemic and the proposed scheme will enable Boston 

to be in a stronger position to capture some of this growth. 

 

Permanent Residential Development 

 

Objectors raise concerns over the potential for the development hereby proposed to become a 

residential park. The local planning authority have recommended suitable conditions are imposed 

on any planning permission to prevent this; the local planning authority therefore have total 

control of the proposal in this regard. It is noted Objectors state that such conditions are reliant 

on enforcement from the local planning authority, however as is the case with all planning 

conditions; Objectors should therefore not raise concerns in this regard. 

 

Page 108



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 7 

Objectors also raise concerns over the indicative nature of the ‘hub’ building. While the ‘hub’ 

building seeks outline planing consent, it is envisaged the building could contain such uses as an 

ancillary reception, activity centre, spa, retail unit, food and beverage facilities, and management 

facilities. Further details of the exact uses would be provided as part of the application for the 

approval of reserved matters. Local residents will be consulted on such an application and have 

an opportunity to comment on the details submitted. 

 

Objectors raise concerns that the ‘hub’ building would potentially not come forward for 

development. The ‘hub’ building is integral to the applicants unique vision for the site as it would 

provide various services and recreational facilities for holidaymakers which would support their 

holiday and provide enjoyment. The ‘hub’ building would be a key facility which would attract 

holidaymakers to this unique holiday destination and ensure its success. The applicant envisages 

making a reserved matters application for the ‘hub’ building within 3-months of the grant of outline 

planning permission.  

 

Boundary Treatments 

 

The objection received on behalf of J. & R. Emerson raises concerns regarding the proposed 

boundary treatments and consider the proposed boundary treatments do not act as a deterrent 

for people wanting to walk on the adjacent farmland. It is noted the same objector, in an earlier 

representation, suggested a 6ft-high fence should be erected around the application site; the 

objectors comments were taken into consideration, however a 6ft fence was not considered to be 

appropriate from a landscape and visual perspective, nor was considered appropriate for the 

applicants vision for the holiday park. Whilst the applicant understands the adjacent landowners 

concerns regarding tresspassing, it is not considered that the proposal would give rise to this 

unacceptable impact. 

 

The application site would be surrounded by boundary treatments which would provide the site 

with security, whilst integrating snestively into the surrounding landscape. As such, the proposed 

boundary treatments comprise a mixture of the following: 

 

• The reinforcement of existing ‘patchy’ vegetation with native shrub and tree planting; 

• The planting of native tree species with understorey planting to those areas of the site 

which lack any vegetation boundary treatments; 

Page 109



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 8 

• Knee rail and hand gates to separate the holiday destination from the remaining 9-hole 

golf course; and, 

• The planting of a mixed native hedgerow with rabbit-proof fencing and stock fencing. 

 

It is considered that the presence of dense-vegetation and fencing at the sites boundaries would 

act as a physical barrier and be a clear indication for holidaymakers that the manager wishes for 

them to stay contained within the site. It is considered any holidaymaker would pay respect to 

this and it would be highly unlikely any holidaymakers would tresspass onto adjacent land with 

the clear presnce of physical boundary treatments. Further to this, the applicants as managers of 

the site, have a duty of care for surrounding occupiers and would manage any events of 

tresspassing appropriately. Additionally, and as suggested within the Officer’s Report – 

tresspassing would be a civil matter between adjacent landowners and the managers of the 

holiday park, therefore it is in the applicants best interest to manage this, should any issue ever 

materialise. 

 

Amenity 

 

The objection received on behalf of Mr Ladds raises issues regarding amenity and states ‘the 

current proposal has the potential to increase noise and disturbance throughout the week to the 

detriment of the residential amenity’. The Applicant disputes this assertion on the basis that 

holiday parks, by nature, do not generate large amounts of noise because holidaymakers would 

be considerate to the amenity of those also staying on-site, and to those in the surrounding area.  

 

One benefit to the design of the scheme in respect of amenity is that the holiday lodges have 

been sited on the fairways of the existing olf course and are bounded by dense vegetation; this 

vegetation would essentially create ‘parcels’ and would help to contain any noise.  

 

Should any holidaymakers generate any unacceptable levels of noise; the on-site manager has a 

duty of care to resolve these issues to ensure other holidaymakers have a pleasant stay, and to 

ensure the amenity of occupiers surrounding the application site is not compromised. 

 

Importantly, Environmental Health Officers have not raised any objections to the development 

hereby proposed on grounds of amenity. 

 

 

Page 110



 
 
005.BG/P19-2767 

Page | 9 

Conclusion 

 

This letter seeks to provide clarity on matters which have emerged through objections and has 

demonstrated that all matters have, unequivocally, been addressed through the planning 

submission. The development hereby proposed has no outstanding objections from techncial 

consultees and the Officer’s Report provides a balanced assessment of all material considerations 

pertinent to the determination of the application before concluding: 

 

“The scheme would be in accordance with the Development Plan when taken as a whole. 

Where any minor conflicts with the plan or minor material harm would occur these 

negatives would be outweighed by other material planning considerations, including the 

considerable economic, and environmental benefits that are likely to arise from the 

development”. 

 

The proposed development has been demonstrated to secure substantial net gains across the 

social, economic and environmental dimensions of sustainable development and would achieve 

the three overarching objectives of the planning system. The benefits of granting planning 

permission for the development hereby proposed would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

any adverse impacts. Appropriately, the development is acceptable and suitable for the grant of 

planning permission and we trust members will support their Officer’s recommendation. 

 

Yours sincerely,  

BEN GIBSON 

Planner 

Ben.Gibson@pegasusgroup.co.uk  

 

 

 

Page 111

mailto:Ben.Gibson@pegasusgroup.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0520
	Report

	2 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0473
	Report

	3 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS

